

### LUND UNIVERSITY

### Regulation of Autoimmunity and Inflammation by microRNAs and Environmental Factors

Tormo-Badia, Neivis

2014

#### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Tormo-Badia, N. (2014). Regulation of Autoimmunity and Inflammation by microRNAs and Environmental Factors. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Diabetes - Immunovirology]. Cellular Autoimmunity Unit.

Total number of authors: 1

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply: Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
   You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

#### LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

### Regulation of Autoimmunity and Inflammation by microRNAs and Environmental Factors

Neivis Tormo Badia



### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Jubileumsaulan, MFC, Jan Waldenströms gata 5. Date 2014-09-06 at 9.00.

Faculty opponent

Outi Vaarala MD, PhD

Department of Vaccination and Immune Protection, National Institute for Health and Welfare, University of Helsinki, Finland

Organization	Document name
LUND UNIVERSITY	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION
Department of Clinical Sciences	
Cellular Autoimmunity	<b>Date of issue</b> 2014-09-06
Author(s)	Sponsoring organization
NEIVIS TORMO BADIA	
Title and subtitle	
Regulation of Autoimmunity and Inflammation by microRNA	As and Environmental Factors
Abstract	
Tolerance is crucial for maintaining immunological balance and avoid autoimmune diseases like type 1 diabetes and the inflammatory bowel disease, ulcerative colitis (UC). <b>In Study I</b> , we have investigated the regulatory role of a class of non- coding RNAs, the miRNAs, during thymocyte development of the where central tolerance is established. We used the non-obese diabetic mouse (NOD) which is spontaneously developing T1D and have been described to have defects in the T cell maturation. By studying the apoptosis response of NOD lymphocytes (which activates similar cell-cycle checkpoints and apoptosis pathways as during thymocyte maturation) we showed differential expression of the miRNA- 34a/b/c gene family, miR-125 and miR-155 in the DNA damage response between NOD and wild-type mice. We believe that these differentially expressed miRNAs may contribute to defect p53 expression in NOD thymocytes after DNA damage, which we also demonstrated in this study. <b>In Study II</b> , we studied the importance of global canonical miRNA regulation in the NOD mice for the development of T1D development by deleting <i>Dicer1</i> (an enzyme needed for miRNA maturation) early in thymocyte development. We showed that these NOD.Lck-Cre <i>Dicer1<sup>MA</sup></i> mice had phenotype alterations including markedly decreased amount of $\alpha\beta$ CD4 <sup>+</sup> and CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells in the secondary lymph nodes but not a similarly large decrease in nTregs. No difference in diabetes incidence between female NOD.Lck-Cre <i>Dicer1<sup>AMA</sup></i> mice and control littermates could be found as a result of these phenotypic changes but surprisingly a significant increase in the male mice diabetes incidence. <b>In Study III</b> , we investigated whether the maternal intestinal microbiota with antibiotics during pregnancy of NOD mice we showed decreased diversity and a persistent modulation of the intestinal microbiota with antibiotics during pregnancy of NOD mice we showed decreased diversity and a persistent modulation of the intestinal microbiota with antibiotics during pregnancy of NOD mice we	

seems to have increased in the offspring to treated mothers at 20 weeks of age but the effect was not persistant. In study IV, the relationship between the global intestinal microbiota and the immune system was investigated in the dextran sulfate sodium induced UC mouse model. We demonstrated changes in the colonic intestinal microbiota pattern and immunological alterations of different populations of T cells, dendritic cells and natural killer cells after UC induction.

ney word	Key	word
----------	-----	------

Key words		
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)		
Supplementary bibliographical information		<b>Language</b> English
ISSN and key title		ISBN
1652-8220		978-91-7619-027-2
Recipient's notes	Number of pages	Price
	Security classification	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sourcespermission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature	Date	

# Regulation of Autoimmunity and Inflammation by microRNAs and Environmental Factors

Neivis Tormo Badia



Copyright Neivis Tormo Badia

Faculty of Medicine, Department of Clinical Sciences Doctoral Dissertation Series 2014:98 ISBN 978-91-7619-027-2 ISSN 1652-8220 Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2014



Tillägnat min familj



### CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	7
PUBLICATIONS NOT INCLUDED IN THESIS	8
ABBREVIATIONS	9
POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING	13
INTRODUCTION	17
The immune system T cells T cell development Cell cycle checkpoint and apoptosis during thymocyte selection T cell activation Tolerance versus autoimmunity Autoimmune diabetes (type 1 diabetes) Pathogenesis of T1D Genetics of T1D Environmental factors in T1D and inflammation Commensal gut microbiota	<ol> <li>17</li> <li>18</li> <li>21</li> <li>25</li> <li>27</li> <li>29</li> <li>31</li> <li>32</li> <li>33</li> <li>34</li> <li>36</li> </ol>
Gut microbiota and T1D The gut immune system Ulcerative Colitis (UC) microRNAs miRNA biogenesis and function	<ul> <li>37</li> <li>38</li> <li>41</li> <li>43</li> <li>44</li> </ul>
miRNAs in β-cells and T1D miRNAs in T cells and the immune system miRNAs in cell cycle checkpoint control and apoptosis	46 47 49
AIMS OF THIS THESIS	53
METHODOLOGY Animal models Non-obese diabetic mouse (NOD) C57BL/6 NOD.Lck-Cre <i>Dicer 1</i> <sup>Δ/Δ</sup> mice	55 55 55 56 57
Flow Cytometry	57
Apoptosis assays Propidium Iodide staining Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick labeling (TUNEL)	59 59 59 59
	)

TaqMan quantitative PCR (qPCR)	60
Terminal Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (T-RFLP)	61
Cytokine detection assay (Luminex)	62
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	65
Study I	65
Study II	69
Study III	72
Study IV	75
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	79
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	83
REFERENCES	87

# LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- I. Apoptosis resistance of non-obese diabetic thymocytes is mediated by a defective p53 expression and altered miRNAs network controlling cell death and proliferation, Tormo-Badia N.\*, Bolmeson C.\*, Carpanetto A., Makowska A., Carlsén M., Ahmad S., Cilio C.M. (Submitted for publication)
- II. Deletion of Dicer1 in T cells of non-obese diabetic mice leads to T cell alterations and dramatic increase of autoimmune diabetes in male., Tormo-Badia N., Uvebrant T., Arvastsson J., Brahimi Q., Bertilsson P-A., Eliasson L., Cilio C.M. (Manuscript)
- III. Antibiotic treatment of pregnant non-obese diabetic mice leads to altered gut microbiota and intestinal immunological changes in the offspring., Tormo-Badia N., Håkansson Å., Vasudevan K., Molin G., Ahrné S and Cilio C.M., Scandinavian Journal of Immunology. 2014 Jun 26; 10.1111/sji.12205.
- IV. Immunological alteration and changes of gut microbiota after dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) administration in mice., Håkansson Å.\*, Tormo-Badia N.\*, Baridi A., Xu J., Molin G., Hagslätt M-L., Karlsson C., Jeppsson B., Cilio C.M., Ahrné S., Experimental Clinical Medicine. 2014;10.1007/s10238-013-0270-5.

# PUBLICATIONS NOT INCLUDED IN THESIS

 I. Beta-cell specific deletion of Dicer 1 leads to defective insulin secretion and diabetes mellitus., Kalis M., Bolmeson C., Esguerra J.L., Gupta S., Edlund A., Tormo-Badia N., Speidel D., Holmberg D., Mayans S., Khoo N.K., Wendt A., Eliasson L., Cilio C.M., PLoS One. 2011;6(12):e29166.

### ABBREVIATIONS

APC	Antigen-presenting cell
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
CDK4, 6	Cyclin-dependent kinase 4, 6
CLP	Common lymphoid progenitor
cSMAC	Central supramolecular activation cluster
cTEC	Cortical epithelial cells
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte
DAG	Diacylglycerol
DC	Dendritic cell
DGCR8	DiGeorge Syndrome Critial Region 8
DN	Double negative T cell stage
FACS	Flow automated cell sorting
FasL	Fas ligand
Foxp3	Forkhead box p3
GADA	Glutamic carboxylase acid
GALT	Gut associated immune system
GF	Germ-free
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
IA-2A	Insulinoma-associated protein 2
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
IDO	Tryptophan-degrading enzyme indoleamine 2,3- dioxygenase
IEL	Intra-epithelial lymphocytes
IFN-γ	Interferon-y
IL-1β	Interleukin-1β
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
IP3	Inositol-tri-phospate

IS	Immunological synapse
ITAMs	Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs
iTreg	Inducible Treg
LAT	Linker for activation of cells
Мф	Macrophage
miRNA, miR-	microRNA, miRNA
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex
MLN	Mesenteric lymph nodes
MCFA	Medium-chain-length fatty acid
MPO	Myeloperoxidase
MS	Multiple sclerosis
mTEC	Medullary thymic epithelial cells
ncRNA	Non-coding RNA
NHEJ	Non-homologous end joining
NK cells	Natural killer cells
NOD	Non-obese diabetic mice
nTreg	Natural Treg
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PCA	Principal component analysis
PE	Phycoerythrin
PI	Propidium iodide
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase
РКС	Protein kinase C
pSMAC	Peripheral supramolecular activation cluster
pre-TCR	Pre-T cell receptor
RAG1, RAG 2	Recombination activation gene 1, 2
SFB	Segmented filamentous bacteria
SHIP	SH2-containing Inositol 5'-Phosphatase
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
10	

STAT	Signal transducer and activators of transcription
TCR	T cell receptor
T1D	Type 1 diabetes
T2D	Type 2 diabetes
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor- β
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-a
Tregs	Regulatory T cells
TRFL-P	Terminal Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism
TRF	Terminal Restriction Fragment
TUNEL	Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick labeling
UC	Ulcerative colitis
3'UTR	3' untranslated region
VNTR	Variable number tandem repeats
ZNT8	Zinc transporter 8

# POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG Sammanfattning

Diabetes är en sjukdom som drabbar nästan 177 miljoner människor världen över och siffran förväntas stiga till 366 miljoner år 2030. Vid typ 1 diabetes (T1D) har kroppen helt eller nästan helt slutat producera insulin och alla som har T1D måste därför dagligen injicera insulin. Insulin behövs i kroppens celler för att kunna ta upp näring (socker) från blodet. T1D uppstår till följd av en obalans i kroppens immunsystem som kallas autoimmunitet. Kroppens immunceller uppfattar då insulin producerande betaceller i bukspottskörteln som ett hot och angriper dem vilket leder till att de förstörs. Anledningen till varför betacellerna förstörs är inte fullständigt känd men man tror att det finns defekter i mekanismerna som i normala fall hjälper till att hålla immunsystemet under kontroll i ett tillstånd som kallas tolerans. Tolerans skapas bland annat under utvecklingen och mognaden av en viss typ immunceller, så kallade T-celler. T-celler som eventuellt kan komma att utvecklas till att angripa kroppens egna organ dödas i en kroppsegen process som kallas programmerad celldöd.

microRNA (miRNA) är en ny typ av små RNA molekyler (en kusin till DNA molekylen som kodar för vår arvsmassa) som först upptäcktes 1993 och som sedan dess har påvisats reglera genuttryck i både växter, djur och människor. Små RNA som inte kodar för några gener troddes förut vara skräp i vår arvsmassa eftersom de oftast låg mellan våra genetiska DNA sekvenser. Detta är något som på senare år har omprövats då dessa "icke-kodande" RNA har uppskattats styra ~60% av våra gener. I den första studien har vi tittat på vilka miRNA som är involverade i reglering av programmerad celldöd (såkallad apoptos) av T-celler under utvecklingen i thymus. Vi jämförde thymocyt-apoptosen i en T1D musmodell, NOD musen, med viltypsmöss och upptäckte att NOD thymocyter har mycket svårare att begå programmerad celldöd än

vildtypsmusens thymocyter. Detta kan medföra att de utvecklade T-cellerna i NOD musen möjligtvis kan vara självreaktiva (eftersom de har svårare att elimineras av kroppen under utvecklingen i thymus) och detta kan bidra till det autoimmuna sjukdomsförloppet i NOD musen. Vi upptäckte också att miR-34 a, b, c familjen, miR-125b samt miR-155 hade ett annorlunda uttryck i NOD thymocyter före och efter DNA skada och att proteinet p53 som kan regleras av dessa miRNAs och är involverad i att initiera programmerad celldöd, inte ökade i uttryck efter DNA skada i NOD thymocyter, i jämförelse med vildtypsmöss.

I den andra studien har vi skapat en genmodifierad NOD musmodell som saknar funktionella miRNA i thymocyter och karaktäriserat alla T-cellerna från thymus och olika lymfnoder genom att titta på deras antal och uttrycket av deras olika markörer (som representerar olika T-cell populationer). Vi har studerat betydelsen av miRNA reglering i de olika T-cell populationerna för utvecklingen av T1D i dessa möss och fann överraskande att avsaknaden av miRNA-reglering bidrog till minskad utveckling av diabetes. Eftersom cytotoxiska T-celler anses vara de celler som initierar immunattacken på  $\beta$ -cellerna så trodde vi att miRNA reglering hade större betydelse för funktionen av dessa T-celler och gick därför vidare genom att undersöka miRNA innehållet i dessa celler och ska i framtiden även undersöka hur avsaknaden av miRNA

I den tredje studien så studerade vi effekten av miljöpåverkan på en hälsosam bakterieflora i tarmen under graviditeten i NOD möss, på ungarnas immunsystem och utvecklingen av T1D. Detta är ytterst intressant att studera då många gravida kvinnor idag behandlas med antibiotika för diverse infektioner och ingen har studerat vilken effekt detta har för utvecklingen av barnens immunsystem och om detta kan influera utvecklingen av T1D. De gravida mössen behandlades med antibiotika, som förändrade bakteriefloran i mammorna genom att döda vissa bakteriesorter. Ungarna 14 från dessa mammor som behandlats med antibiotika under sin graviditet hade förändringar i vissa T-cell populationer i lymfnoderna i tarm-regionerna och deras bakterieflora var annorlunda samt att den hade lägre diversitet jämfört med ungar till mammor som inte behandlats med antibiotika. Ungarna till mammor som behandlats med antibiotika under graviditeten hade också ett annorlunda diabetesutvecklingsmönster.

I den fjärde studien användes en kemikalie, dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) för att inducera inflammation i tarmen på möss som en modell för ulcerös kolit som är en inflammatorisk sjukdom i tarmen på människor. Symptomen av ulcerös kolit är bland annat smärtor i magen, diarré, blod i avföringen och viktnedgång. Vi studerade hur immunsystemet samt bakteriefloran i tarmen medverkade till den inflammatoriska processen i tarmen vid sjukdomsförloppet. Inflammationen bidrog till förstörelse av tjocktarmens ytceller och förändrade vilka typer av bakterier som fanns närvarande i tarmen. Inflammationen i tarmen ledde till att vissa immunceller ökade i antal i lymfnoderna i tarmregionen, vilket ökade mängden inflammatoriska signalsubstanser (cytokiner) i mössen, medan andra typer av immunceller minskade i antal. Genom att studera samspelet mellan tarmens bakterieflora och immunsystemets bidrag till inflammationen har vi ökat förståelsen av sjukdomen.

### INTRODUCTION

### The immune system

Our immune system is crucial for fighting infections and to do that in an efficient way it is divided into an innate and an adaptive immune system. The innate immune system includes cell types like monocytes/macrophages (M $\phi$ ) which are the first to arrive to an inflammatory site and initiate an unspecific immune response. For instance, Mø recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) via Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and initiates an inflammatory response with secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (Takeda et al. 2003). The effect of inflammatory cytokines results in physiological changes, such as increased blood flow to facilitate the transportation of more inflammatory cells to the inflammatory site. The subsequent rise in body temperature as the result of cytokine production is one of the preventative measures to inhibit the replication of invading microorganisms. In addition, released chemokines attract more effector cells to the site of inflammation. The innate immune response is the first line of defense of the immune system. Owing to the innate immune response the body is given more time to raise a secondary and more specific line of defense called the adaptive immune response(Janeway et al. 2001). Here, the main effector cells are the T cells and the B cells which are the producers of specific antibodies against pathogenic antigens. These adaptive immune cells act together with the antigenpresenting cells (APCs) the dendritic cells (DCs), which have migrated to the site of inflammation. The migration allows the DCs to encounter pathogens and process into peptides. Once achieved, the DCs further migrate to the secondary lymphoid organs from the site of inflammation to present the antigens to naïve T cells (Guermonprez et al. 2002). The naïve T cell recognition of the antigen and activation leads to

proliferation of the T cells and differentiation into different effector T cell populations with different functions that are able to eliminate the pathogens during the adaptive immune response.

The immune system is very effective in eliminating pathogens but mechanisms to clear the immune responses in order to maintain immunological balance (tolerance) is however one the most important features of the immune system. Similarly, tolerance is an essential feature of the gut immune system. With the high presence of 10<sup>11</sup> intestinal bacteria per gram intestinal content of the colon, bacterial antigens that would normally induce an immune response are tolerated and do not induce immune reaction. This is an evolutionary symbiosis between intestinal bacteria and the host. Moreover, the commensal intestinal bacteria are not only passive bystanders, but can actively interact with the immune system to protect the body from pathogenic bacteria (Belkaid and Tarbell 2009). However, in genetically susceptible individuals, the breakdown of tolerance in the gut leads to inflammatory bowel diseases like ulcerative colitis (UC). On the other hand, breakdown of immunological tolerance in the pancreatic islets leads to the autoimmune disease type 1 diabetes (T1D).

#### T cells

The T cells are divided into the two different types, the  $\alpha\beta$  T cells and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells. The  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have a more restricted antigen recognition than  $\alpha\beta$  T cells and respond more rapidly than the  $\alpha\beta$  T cells. For this reason, the  $\gamma\delta$  T cells are often referred to as "innate-like" T cells. The  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, in contrast to the  $\alpha\beta$  T cells, are able to recognize antigens without the need of pre-processing and presentation of pathogenic antigens by the APCs (Schild et al. 1994). Both the  $\gamma\delta$  T and  $\alpha\beta$  T cells play a role T1D development in the main mouse model for human T1D called the non-obese diabetic

(NOD) mice the (Markle et al. 2013). This is closer described in the future section "Non-obese diabetic mouse (NOD)". However, the role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in NOD mice is complicated because they have also been shown to also have a protective function against T1D when isolated from the intestinal intraepithelial lymphocyte (IEL) populations (Locke et al. 2006). The involvement of  $\gamma\delta$  T cell lineage in the gut immune system is closer described in the section "Gut immune system".

The  $\alpha\beta$  T cells are the most common cells in the immune system. These cells are divided into CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells based on their co-receptors. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells interact with the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II and differentiate into T helper cells (Th1 or Th2) upon activation. The differentiation into Th1 or Th2 cells depends on the types of cytokine present in milieu during activation (Constant and Bottomly 1997). Th1 cells are induced by interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$  and interleukin (IL)-12 and their differentiation is regulated by the key transcription factor Signal transducer and activators of transcription (STAT)-4, which in its turn is regulating T-bet (Murphy et al. 2000). Differentiated Th1 cells secrete IL-2 and the pro-inflammatory cytokine IFN- $\gamma$ , which is involved in activation of monocytes during inflammatory response and is involved in the pathology of T1D in pancreatic islets (El-Sheikh et al. 1999). This is further described in the "Pathogenesis of T1D" section.

Cytokine milieus with IL-4 differentiates naïve T cells into Th2 cells. This transformation process is mediated by the key transcription factors STAT-6 and GATA-3 which results in secretion of cytokines such as IL-4, IL-5, IL-13 and IL-10 (Murphy et al. 2000). Th2 cytokines promotes B cell differentiation and antibody production against specific pathogenic antigens. However, both Th1 and Th2 cells can participate in antibody responses. For example IL-4 promotes class-switch to IgE in response to parasites and IFN- $\gamma$  can mediate class-switch to IgG2a against viral infections (Vinuesa et al. 2005).

In a state of tolerance breakdown the Th1 cells have been shown to be involved in pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases like type 1 diabetes (T1D), Crohn's disease, multiple sclerosis (MS), rheumatoid arthritis (RA) etc. (Peluso et al. 2006; Larsen et al. 2012; Oreja-Guevara et al. 2012). In contrast, Th2 cells are involved in pathogenesis of for instance UC, allergic disease, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (Funauchi et al. 1998; Georas et al. 2005; Heller et al. 2005).

There is another class of T cells, the Th17 cells. Naïve T cells are differentiated into Th17 cells in the presence of IL-23 and IL-6. However, the participation of transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$  and IL-21 have also been demonstrated in the induction of Th17 cells (Korn et al. 2009). The process of differentiation in this case is mainly under transcriptional regulation by STAT-3 and matured Th17 cells are able to produce the cytokine IL-17. The dual role of Th17 cells in the intestine is described in the section "Gut immune system". Notably, the involvement of Th17 cells in the pathogenesis of T1D has been confirmed in animal models and has also been found to be increased as circulating cells in patients (Shao et al. 2012). The mechanisms by which Th17 cells are believed to mediate T1D development involves the suppression of regulatory T cells (Tregs) expansion, mediates T cell shift to Th1 phenotype and stimulates CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) responses (Shao et al. 2012).

Tregs are necessary to keep the immunological balance to "self" and they are the main tolerance inducers. Natural CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> Tregs (nTregs) are derived from thymic differentiation and express the master regulator transcription factor Forkhead box p3 (Foxp3). However, Tregs can also be induced in the periphery and are then referred as iTregs. Moreover, as not all iTregs express Foxp3, cells lacking Foxp3 expression are further sub-divided into Tr1 and Th3 cells which are characterized by their ability to secrete IL-10 and/or TGF- $\beta$  (Curotto de Lafaille and Lafaille 2009). The mechanisms through which Tregs can suppress and regulate T cell responses as well as innate

immune responses are described in more detail in the "Tolerance versus autoimmunity" section.

One of the main functions of the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell is the recognition of virus infected cells and abnormal cells such as cancer cells (Klenerman and Hill 2005; Gattinoni et al. 2012). The recognition is mediated through the interaction with MHC class I, which is expressed on nearly all cells in the body. Naïve CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells mature into cytotoxic T cells that have the ability to induce cellular apoptosis by releasing lytic granules containing perforins. These enzymes create pores in the lipid bilayer of the target cell and subsequently release proteases referred as granzymes. Also, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells could employ perforin-independent mechanism of cytotoxicity that involves binding of membrane incorporated Fas ligand (FasL) to Fas on the target cell. Both the release of perforin/granzymes and the Fas-FasL interaction induce the intrinsic apoptotic pathway by cleaving and activating pro-caspases (Russell and Ley 2002).

### T cell development

All immune cells develop from hematopoietic stem cells and a common lymphoid progenitor (CLP) has been suggested for T and B cells (Kondo et al. 1997; Wada et al. 2008). The differentiation of T cells occurs while the thymocytes are migrating through the cortical and medullary regions of the thymus (Figure 1). During migration through the cortex the thymocytes are characterized into different developmental stages based on their expression of extracellular and intracellular markers. The early maturation stages are defined mainly by the expression of KIT (CD117) and CD24 and later CD44 and CD25: CD44<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> (DN1), CD44<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> (DN2), CD44<sup>-</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> (DN3) and CD44<sup>-</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> (DN4). At the DN3 stage, T cells differentiate into either  $\alpha\beta$  T cells or  $\gamma\delta$  T cells (Taghon et al. 2006).

During the DN3 stage the pre-T cell receptor (pre-TCR)  $\beta$ -chain is rearranged with V(D)J recombination by joining the invariant D and J chain segments with the variable V chain. The recombination maximizes the T cell receptor (TCR) repertoire and increases the probability of antigen recognition. This process is called "ß-selection", in which the rearranged ß-chain is combined with the invariant  $\alpha$ -chain in the pre-TCR. The early pre-TCR is then tested for the ability to interact with the MHC molecule presented by the cortical thymic epithelial cells (cTECs) (Hoffman et al. 1996; Dudley et al. 2005). DN3 cells express T cell specific genes like the Recombination activation genes 1 and 2 (Rag1 and Rag2) which encode for endonucleases that are active during the V(D)J recombination of the TCR $\beta$  chain as well as genes for CD3 $\epsilon$  and Lck molecules (David-Fung et al. 2006). Collectively, these molecules are part of the T cell receptor which plays a critical role in the process of positive thymocyte selection. If the V(D)J recombination of the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  chains is unsuccessful and TCR signaling fails, the thymocyte is eliminated by apoptosis that might involve p53. The involvement of p53 in the apoptosis of thymocytes during development is described further in the next section. Successful recombination, on the other hand, results in proper TCR signaling that mediates transition of the DN cells into the next maturation step (Jiang et al. 1996; Haks et al. 1999). Before the thymocytes fully gain CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> double positive (DP) expression, they undergo an intermediate stage of differentiation called immature-single positive (ISP) and transiently express CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup> (Paterson and Williams 1987; Rothenberg and Taghon 2005). The commitment to the CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> lineage has been shown to be influenced by the Lck activity strength in the interaction with the MHC complex. High Lck activity gives stronger interaction with MHC, thus stronger TCR signal which mediates the differentiation into CD4<sup>+</sup>

T cells whereas lower Lck activity will give rise to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (Hernandez-Hoyos et al. 2000).

After passing positive selection, DP thymocytes migrate towards the medullary parts of the thymus. The migration of the DP thymocytes is directed by chemokines as for instance CCR7, binding to receptors expressed on medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs) (Takahama 2006; Nitta et al. 2008). In the medulla, thymocytes that interact with high-affinity to self-derived peptides are usually deleted by apoptosis in a process defined as the negative selection (Sebzda et al. 1999). Self-antigens are presented by the mTECs and dendritic cells in the medulla where they can provide the right co-stimulation by expression of the co-stimulatory molecules B7.1 (CD80) and B7.2 (CD86) which are necessary for optimal negative selection (Page et al. 1993; Nitta et al. 2008). Finally, the naïve CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> single-positive T cells migrate into the periphery. Ultimately, only ~1% of thymocytes survive the maturation and migrate into the periphery (Berzins et al. 1999).



**Figure 1.** T cell maturation in the thymus. As the thymocytes migrate through the thymic cortex they go through early DN1-DN4 maturation stages characterized mainly by the sequential expression of CD25 and CD44. The re-arrangement of the  $\beta$ -chain of the pre-TCR initiates between the DN3 to DN4 stage. Upon successful re-arrangement of the  $\beta$ - and  $\alpha$ -chains, the TCR is tested for the ability to recognize the MHC-peptide complex presented by the cTECs in a process defined as positive selection. At this developmental stage the thymocyte is double positive and express both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> co-receptor molecules. As the DP thymocytes pass positive selection and migrate towards the medullary regions of the thymus they commit to either CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell lineage. In the medullary regions the thymocytes go through the process of negative selection where they are eliminated by apoptosis if the affinity to self-antigens presented by the mTECs/DCs is too high. Only ~1% of the thymocytes pass both positive and negative selection and can migrate into the periphery as mature naïve T cells.

#### Cell cycle checkpoint and apoptosis during thymocyte selection

The TCR chain re-arrangement involves V(D)J recombination and is tightly linked with the non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) machinery. The NHEJ machinery is ligating the double strand breaks (DSB) during the recombination to avoid abnormal joining and chromosomal translocations (Lieber 2010). Following the V(D)J recombination in the  $\beta$ -selection, the cell cycle is arrested at a checkpoint to minimize the chance of proliferation in case of abnormal V(D)J recombination (Lin and Desiderio 1995). A role for the tumor suppressor protein p53 is suggested in the regulation of this cell cycle progression and apoptosis (Figure 2) (Guidos et al. 1996; Jiang et al. 1996; Haks et al. 1999; Costello et al. 2000). In contrast, it has also been shown that V(D)J recombination in vivo does not induce p53 expression in wild-type mice and that p53<sup>-/-</sup> mice have normal T cell development (Donehower et al. 1992; Guidos et al. 1996). In addition, Haks et al. showed that cell cycle arrest can be overcome. In CD3 $\gamma^{\prime-}$  mice the thymocytes can proceed with maturation even in the absence of functional pre-TCR receptor signaling (Haks et al. 1999). On the other hand, the cell cycle checkpoint seem to involve p53 activation in the immunodeficient SCID mice (Guidos et al. 1996). SCID mice have previously been shown to lack functional TCR and B cell receptors (Bosma and Carroll 1991). More recently, Haines et al. demonstrated that blocking of lymphocyte development at the cell cycle checkpoints where RAG activity is present could provoke lymphogenesis in a genetic background of mice with deficient DNA damage response (Haines et al. 2006).

Additionally, p53 was shown to be involved in apoptosis induction during negative selection (Figure 2) (Quaglino and Ronchetti 2001). Also, Zhu *et al.* demonstrated the involvement of E2F1 regulation of ARF and p53 in the

negative selection of thymocytes (Zhu et al. 1999). However, thymocyte apoptosis during negative selection have also been shown to involve the mechanism of Fas-FasL interaction (Kishimoto et al. 1998). Also, Fas independent mechanism of apoptosis of semi-mature thymocytes has been shown involving Bim (Bouillet et al. 2002; Villunger et al. 2004).



**Figure 2.** Illustration of the proposed cell cycle progression and G1 checkpoint during  $\beta$ -selection respectively negative selection in thymocyte development involving p53. Depending on different signaling involving p53 this can lead to cell cycle arrest and apoptosis of the thymocyte.

Nevertheless, changes in p53 levels can be involved in determining the outcome of apoptotic signals during specific stages of thymic development which can influence the susceptibility of thymocytes to apoptosis. In Study I, we tried to elucidate the control mechanism of p53-dependent DNA damage response in the presence of DNA strand breaks after V(D)J recombination as well as during negative selection in non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice.

### T cell activation

The T cells scan for antigens that are presented by the DCs in the lymph nodes, matching to their TCR specificity. When a fitting antigen is presented to the T cell an immunological synapse (IS) or contact is formed between the T cell and the APC. This mechanism is responsible for activation of T cells. The IS is divided into the central supramolecular activation cluster (cSMAC) and peripheral supramolecular activation cluster (pSMAC). The cSMAC includes the TCR, co-receptor CD4/CD8, co-stimulatory molecule CD28 and cytotoxic T lymphocyte activated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) (Figure 3) (Chen and Flies 2013). In this cluster, the CTLA-4 molecule is a negative regulator of T cell activation and is up-regulated upon T cell activation and leads to reduced T cell proliferation by inhibition of IL-2 transcription and subsequent cell cycle arrest through inhibition of cyclin D3 and cyclin dependent kinases (Brunner et al. 1999). Moreover, the pSMAC includes other co-stimulatory molecules such as CD2 that interacts with CD48/59 expressed on APCs and adhesion molecules like LFA-1 that interacts with ICAM-1 on the APC (Chen and Flies 2013). T cell activation engages the phosphorylation of immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs) of the TCR-associated CD3 chains by Fyn and CD4/CD8 co-receptor by Lck. As a consequence, the tyrosine kinase ZAP-70 is

activated and in turn is phosphorylating several adaptor proteins including linker for activation of cells (LAT). The adaptor proteins mediate activation of phospholipase C (PLC)- $\gamma$  that generates diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol-triphospate (IP3) activate the downstream protein kinase C (PKC). Engaged PKC through various signaling pathways ultimately generates elevated cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx and activation of transcription of transcription factors including NF- $\kappa$ B, NF-AT and AP-1 (Kane et al. 2001; Srikanth and Gwack 2013; Gerondakis et al. 2014). These transcription factors in turn induce different effector molecules that cause T cell differentiation with effector functions as well as IL-2 production necessary for T cell proliferation and expansion.



**Figure 3.** The TCR interaction with an appropriate MHC-peptide complex leads to T cell activation initiated by formation of the immunological synapse (IS) which is a contact area between the T cell and the APC. At the stage of T cell activation the TCR-associated CD3 chains is phosphorylated by the tyrosine kinase Lck. CD28 interaction with B7.1 or 2 provides a necessary co-stimulatory signal. ZAP-70 becomes activated by phosphorylation that leads to recruitment of the adaptor protein LAT. LAT then induces a downstream signaling cascade that ultimately activates the nuclear transcription factors NF- $\kappa$ B, NF-AT and AP-1.

#### Tolerance versus autoimmunity

Central tolerance is established by eliminating potentially self-reactive T cells that TCR binds to with high affinity to self-antigens during thymocyte development. However, all potentially auto-reactive T cells are not deleted because all self-antigens are not present in the thymus. Therefore, mechanisms exists in the periphery to maintain peripheral tolerance. This include induction of T cell anergy, T cell deletion and T cell suppression. Tregs are responsible for the suppression of self-reactive T cells by several mechanisms. For example, anergy is characterized by the total lack of T cell response and can be induced by the absence of co-stimulation from B7 family molecules on the

APC cell at T cell activation and by CTLA-4 up-regulation (Rudd et al. 2009). Tregs have been shown to suppress T cell responses by inducing down-regulation of costimulatory molecules and IL-2 production by APC's through direct cell-cell mediated interaction (Cederbom et al. 2000; Vendetti et al. 2000). CTLA-4 which is constituently expressed on Tregs may be also involved in suppression of T cell function (Read et al. 2000; Takahashi et al. 2000). For instance, Tregs have been described to suppress tryptophan catabolism in DCs in CTLA-4 mediated fashion and direct cellcell interaction with B7 family molecules (Fallarino et al. 2003). The enzyme tryptophan-degrading enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) that catabolizes tryptophan in DCs, has been shown to be involved in suppression of antigen-driven proliferation of T cells (Munn et al. 2004). Alternatively, CTLA-4 could also directly give a negative proliferation signal of T cell responses through interaction with the B7 family molecules (Paust et al. 2004).

Direct T cell deletion is achieved through Fas-FasL interaction which initiates intrinsic apoptosis program of the cell including downstream caspase cascade activation (Russell and Ley 2002). Similarly, Tregs could potentially be used to induce apoptosis of effector T cells by using FasL. For instance, Tregs primed with FasL administrated to mice with chronic colitis, were shown to severely reduce the pathogenic burden of the animals (Kaminitz et al. 2013).

Tregs have also been shown to suppress both T cell responses and innate immune cells through secretion of IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$ . The anti-inflammatory functions of IL-10 include inhibition of Th1 activation and reduction of cytokine secretion from effector T cells and additionally inhibiting antigen-induced proliferation by down-regulation of co-stimulatory molecules on APCs (Letterio and Roberts 1998; Moore et al. 2001; Maloy et al. 2003). The IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$  immunosuppressive mechanisms are

particularly crucial for maintaining intestinal tolerance and inhibiting development of intestinal inflammation (Asseman et al. 1999). Further description of this subject is outlined in the "Gut immune system" section.

Defects in the mechanisms responsible for maintenance of central and peripheral tolerance, as described above, leads to breakdown of tolerance which results in autoimmune diseases like T1D and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD).

### Autoimmune diabetes (type 1 diabetes)

Autoimmune diabetes, also known as T1D is characterized by insulin deficiency due to  $\beta$ -cell destruction caused by immune cells infiltrating the pancreatic islets. The loss of  $\beta$ -cell mass results in elimination of insulin production and consequently impaired uptake of glucose to the cells which give rise to systemic hyperglycemia and ketoacidosis. As the result of failure of insulin production, T1D leads to a lifelong insulin dependency. Until 1920's T1D was untreatable and a therefore considered as a fatal disease. The scientists Frederick Banting, Charles Best and John Macleod changed the paradigm by successfully treating a diabetic dog with pancreatic extract from a healthy dog. They also managed to treat the first human, a boy dying from diabetes, by injecting a more refined extract of insulin (Banting et al. 1922; King and Rubin 2003). A better understanding of the disease causing mechanism of came with the discovery of autoantibodies in 1974 which suggested that T1D was an autoimmune disease (Bottazzo et al. 1974). To date, the major autoantibodies against  $\beta$ -cell antigens target insulin (IAA), glutamic carboxylase acid 65 (GADA), insulinoma-associated protein 2 (IA-2A) and Zinc transporter 8 (ZnT8A) (Atkinson et al. 2014).

The triggers that initiate the autoimmune attack on the  $\beta$ -cells by the T cells and other mononuclear cells to date remains elusive. However, it is believed that potentially
autoreactive T cells that escaped clonal deletion are activated by DCs presenting  $\beta$ -cell antigens which they encounter in pancreatic islets during very early insulitis. Alternatively, T cells may be activated by  $\beta$ -cell antigens that are released after a virus infection from damaged  $\beta$ -cells as a result of the inflammatory response.

Epidemiologically, the highest prevalence of T1D is observed particularly in Finland, but also in the other Scandinavian countries and Sardinia, whereas the disease prevalence is less frequent in Asia, Southern Europe and Middle East (Tuomilehto 2013). Although, there is a strong genetic basis of the disease, the incidence of T1D is increasing globally with approximately 2.8 % each year (Group 2006). Thus, triggering environmental factors in addition to genetic factors are important for the initiation of T1D.

#### Pathogenesis of T1D

Histological similarities but also differences of T1D have been observed between humans and mice. For example, diabetogenic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, monocytes and B cells have been observed in pancreatic islets of humans and mice during insulitis (Wong et al. 1999; Willcox et al. 2009). However, peri-islet insulitis and the massive infiltration of pancreatic islets in NOD mice have in contrast not been found in humans in which insulitis has only been observed in <10 % of islets (In't Veld 2014).

Animal studies show that the inflammatory process in the pancreatic islets during early insulitis is driven by diabetogenic T cells and mononuclear cells. Diabetogenic T cells primarily induce  $\beta$ -cell death through the Fas-dependent mechanism, as described earlier. In addition, T effector cells secrete IFN- $\gamma$  and tumor necrosis factor (TNF- $\alpha$ ) (Varanasi et al. 2012) and monocytes secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  (El-Sheikh et al. 1999; Calderon et al. 2008). These cytokines are

responsible for both maturation and activation of immune cells and attraction of more immune cells to the pancreatic islets (Bergholdt et al. 2004; Cantor and Haskins 2007; Schoenborn and Wilson 2007; Ben-Sasson et al. 2009). The released pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  activate several intrinsic apoptosis pathways in the  $\beta$ -cells that induce cell death (Eizirik and Mandrup-Poulsen 2001; Gurzov et al. 2009). Further, in response to secreted IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , activation of the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway results in the expression of genes of several chemokines and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) (Kurrer et al. 1997; Mandrup-Poulsen 2003; Ortis et al. 2008; Quintana-Lopez et al. 2013). Moreover,  $\beta$ -cell exposure to TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  induce apoptosis through the activation of the transcription factor STAT-1 and pro-apoptotic protein Bim (Barthson et al. 2011).

In short, the  $\beta$ -cell inflammatory response is actively involved in the pathogenesis of T1D and ultimately resulting in the loss of  $\beta$ -cell mass. The decrease in  $\beta$ -cell mass due to  $\beta$ -cell death in turn causes insulin deficiency and chronic hyperglycemia.

#### Genetics of T1D

The strongest genetic association with T1D susceptibility is found in the human leukocyte gene (HLA) class II and in NOD the mouse analogue I-A<sup>g7</sup>, which encodes the MHC II molecule. In humans the HLA genes account for approximately 40-50 % of the T1D risk (Noble and Valdes 2011). The HLA class II gene is situated on chromosome 6p21 locus and has several susceptibility regions. The DR3-DQ2 and DR4-DQ8 regions confer the highest T1D risk and are present in 90 % of Caucasian T1D patients (Kockum et al. 1999; Devendra et al. 2004).

Also, genetic variation in non-HLA genetic susceptibility genes is associated with human T1D. For instance, the variable number tandem repeats (VNTRs) upstream of

the insulin gene (INS) which are located on chromosome 11p15.5 is a known genetic susceptibility region (Undlien et al. 1995). The PTPN22 gene is a second non-HLA susceptibility gene for T1D (Smyth et al. 2004). PTPN22 gene is located on chromosome 1p13 and is encoding the lymphoid tyrosine phosphatase LYP that is involved in down-regulation of T cell activation. Also, the CTLA-4 gene (located on chromosome 2q33) has also been associated to T1D (Nistico et al. 1996). In addition, in the NOD mouse CTLA-4 is suggested to be one of the candidate susceptibility genes (located in Idd5 on chromosome 1). Moreover, CTLA-4<sup>-/-</sup> mouse lymphocytes are similarly to NOD lymphocytes resistant to  $\gamma$ -irradiation induced apoptosis (Bergman et al. 2001). Apoptosis resistance of NOD lymphocytes is further described in the section "Non-obese diabetic mouse (NOD)".

# Environmental factors in T1D and inflammation

Although the genetic factors are established to be the strongest contributor to increased T1D risk, it is not clear how the disease is initiated. Environmental factors that have been considered in triggering T1D include for instance virus infections by enteroviruses, cytomegaloviruses, rotaviruses and herpesviruses. Viruses with the strongest association to T1D risk are enteroviruses. The probability of finding enteroviruses is 10 times higher in T1D patients than in healthy individuals (Yeung et al. 2011). The presence of Coxackie virus B1 has been associated with two or more autoantibiodies found in the serum of children that were progressing towards T1D (Lonnrot et al. 2000; Laitinen et al. 2014). Recently, Ferreira *et al.* and Kallionpää *et al.* reported an increased innate IFN- $\gamma$  expression pattern that are associated with virus infections in children with genetic predisposition prior to progression to T1D (Ferreira et al. 2014; Kallionpaa et al. 2014). Although, virus infections notably seem to trigger

 $\beta$ -cell autoimmunity in some T1D susceptible individuals, only a low percentage develop the disease considering the high frequency of virus infections.

Other environmental factors which could influence the development of T1D are infant and maternal diet as well as intestinal microbiota (Vaarala 2004; Norris 2010; Vaarala 2013). For instance, hydrolyzed casein in the diet increased plasma insulin concentration and insulin content in islets as well as reduce L-glutamine oxidation in both islets and mesenteric lymph nodes (MLNs) resulting in decreased diabetes incidence in diabetes prone BB rats (BBdp) (Malaisse et al. 2000; Scott et al. 2000). A certain type of wheat protein diet has on the other hand been shown to accelerate diabetes incidence in BBdp rats (Chakir et al. 2005). In children with genetic risk for T1D, a recent association study could not show any difference in risk to develop  $\beta$ -cell autoimmunity after use of hydrolyzed casein formula and autoantibodies (Knip et al. 2014). Another dietary factor that is associated with increased risk of T1D in humans is low intake of vitamin D (Littorin et al. 2006). In NOD mice the administration of oral vitamin D has been shown to protect NOD mice from T1D. More specifically, the intake of 50 ng of vitamin D per day prevented the onset of T1D through 200 days of age (Zella et al. 2003). Supplementation of vitamin D in humans was observed to benefit T1D patients with vitamin D deficiency and intake of vitamin D combined with calcium resulted in improved glycemic control (Aljabri et al. 2010). In short, the dietary effects of vitamin D seem to benefit both NOD mouse and human with T1D.

Dietary components have the ability to modulate the gut microbiota. The connection of the intestinal microbiota to development of autoimmune disease as well as inflammatory bowel disease is addressed in the next couple of sections.

#### Commensal gut microbiota

The gut microbiota is largely heterogeneous and consists of anaerobic, aerobic and facultative aerobic bacteria with increasing proportion of anaerobic bacteria in the distal areas of the intestine. The dominating phyla in the colon are the Firmicutes (including genera of Clostridium, Enterococcus, Lactobacillus and Lactococcus) and Bacteroidetes with mainly Bacteroides species (Hold et al. 2002; Eckburg et al. 2005). The minorities (approximately 10 %) of the colonic microbiota include Bifidobacterium, Enterobacter and Fusobacterium genera (Backhed et al. 2005; Eckburg et al. 2005). Although there are variations of bacterial strains in different individuals and also between family members, the overall phylotypes are conserved (Turnbaugh et al. 2009), which suggests similar metabolic function. The symbiosis between the gut microbiota and the host gives the benefit of maximizing extraction of dietary energy by fermentation of dietary carbohydrates, vitamin synthesis (K, B12, biotin, folic acid) and amino acid synthesis (Hooper et al. 2002). Another advantage of the gut microbiota is their ability to act as a protective barrier against pathogenic bacteria which is further described in the "Gut immune system" section. In addition, the gut microbiota is necessary for proper development of the immune system, demonstrated by the fact that mice kept in germfree (GF) conditions have underdeveloped gut-associated immune tissues, lower amount of CD8<sup>+</sup> intraepithelial T cells with impaired function and fewer plasma cells (Round and Mazmanian 2009). This indicates that the maternal gut microbiota is important for development of the fetal immune system as well as early priming against commensal microbes.

Previously it has been shown that already after 48h after birth the gastro-intestinal tract of a child is colonized with strains of *Lactobacillus*, *Bifidobacterium*, *Bacteroides fragilis*, *Enterococcus and Enterobacteriaceae* (Karlsson et al. 2011). The maternal, gut microbiota, vaginal flora and skin are important sources but also hospital environment

can be a bacterial source (Mackie et al. 1999; Favier et al. 2002; Fanaro et al. 2003). Recently, evidence points out that transplacental transmission of the microbiota of mothers starts already during pregnancy (Satokari et al. 2009) and also postnatally with the mothers' milk in both humans (Martin et al. 2003) and mice (Zhou et al. 2000). There are even new evidence that the placenta itself harbors microbiota similar to the mother's oral microbial pattern (Aagaard et al. 2014). Therefore in Study III, we investigated whether derangement of the maternal gut microbiota during pregnancy could impact on the development of the offspring's gut microbial pattern, gut immune system and impact the incidence of autoimmune diabetes.

#### Gut microbiota and T1D

In the state of disease the gut microbial pattern is often altered compared to healthy individuals. For example, it has been observed that children progressing towards T1D had decreased proportion of Firmicutes which was accompanied by an increase in Bacteroidetes phyla (Giongo et al. 2011). Other observations show that *Bacteroides*, *Clostridium* and *Veillonella* genera were more abundant in children with  $\beta$ -cell autoimmunity with lower abundance of the *Bifidobacterium*, *Lactobacillus* and *Prevotella* genera's compared to healthy children (de Goffau et al. 2013; Murri et al. 2013). In the NOD mouse, it has been shown that the gut microbiota has the potential to modulate diabetes development (King and Sarvetnick 2011; Kriegel et al. 2011). In the same line, NOD mice bred in germ-free conditions displayed higher incidence of T1D or increased insulitis compared to specific pathogen-free (SPF) conditions (Pozzilli et al. 1993; Alam et al. 2011; Tlaskalova-Hogenova et al. 2011). In addition, modulation of the gut microbiota by the use of antibiotics has been shown to alter diabetes incidence in both NOD mice (Wen et al. 2008; King and Sarvetnick 2011;

Kriegel et al. 2011) and BB rat models of type 1 diabetes (Brugman et al. 2006; Roesch et al. 2009).

#### The gut immune system

The intestines are among the largest areas of contact of the body to external antigens (both dietary and potential pathogens) and not surprisingly the largest amount of immune cells can be found in the gut-associated lymphoid tissues (GALT), (Figure 4.) The GALT mainly consists of the Peyer's patches, MLN (that drain the intestines more distally), isolated lymphoid follicles and the lymphocyte populations in the connective tissue of the intestine, the lamina propria (LP) (Izcue et al. 2009). The Peyer's patches have the anatomical structure of a lymph node with B cell and T cell areas and the development of the Peyer's patches in intestine is not dependent on the gut microbiota (Mowat 2003). In contrast, the number of isolated lymphoid follicles could be triggered by intestinal microbiota and the number of follicles increases during chronic inflammation (Lorenz et al. 2003).

The gut microbiota is actively involved in the gut-immune responses to maintain the immunological balance in the GI tract. The commensal gut microbiota can actively defend the intestinal epithelial cells (IEC) against pathogenic bacteria by inducing the secretion of antimicrobial peptides like  $\alpha$ -defensins and lysozyme from a type of epithelial cells, the Paneth cells (Ayabe et al. 2000). Another type of epithelial cells, the Goblet cells, secrete mucin with high quantities of glycosylated proteins that forms a gel-like mucus layer on the epithelial surface that limits the contact with the intestinal bacteria (Hansson and Johansson 2010).



**Figure 4.** The figure shows the intestinal architecture and the gut-associated lymphoid tissues (GALT), the Peyer's patches and mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN). The monolayer of several intestinal epithelial cells connected with tight junctions form the architecture of the villi and crypts. The Goblet cells secrete mucus that covers the epithelial cell layer to limit the contact with the bacteria in the lumen. The Paneth cells secrete antimicrobial peptides which adds to another line of defense to the intestinal barrier together with the IgA antibodies secreted from differentiated B cells, the plasma cells. Peyer's patches (located to the left in the illustration) have distinct B cell and T cell areas and specialized type of cells towards the lumen called microfold (M) cells. The M cells have the ability to catch and transmit soluble antigens and bacteria to the Peyer's patch where they can either be processed by dendritic cells or ingested by macrophages (M $\phi$ ). DC, M $\phi$  and intraepithelial T cells (IEL) populations are also present within the epithelial cell layer and in the lamina propria (LP), situated between the epithelium and the deeper submucosa. The DC have the ability to stretch between the tight junctions of the epithelial cells and collect soluble antigens directly from the lumen.

Innate immune responses to limit intestinal barrier penetration by bacteria can be a MyD88-dependent TLR activation that leads to the production of antimicrobial peptides (Vaishnava et al. 2008). Moreover, TLR2 signaling has also shown to enhance tight junctions between the IEC and contribute to an even more restricted environment

39

against bacterial penetration (Gibson et al. 2008). Another mechanism by which commensal bacteria, particularly SFB, limit bacterial expansion is through the induction of IgA via the adaptive immune response. (Suzuki et al. 2004). Secreted IgA could be involved in trapping the bacteria in the mucus layer (Fagarasan and Honjo 2003). SFB in LP and small intestine have also been demonstrated to induce the expansion of Th17 cells leading to protection against *Citerobacter rodentium* infection (Ivanov et al. 2009). In addition, the recruited Th17 cells from secondary lymphoid organs to Peyer's patches have recently shown to also be involved in the chronic inflammation and development of IBD in the colon by mediating recruitment of neutrophils (Honda and Takeda 2009). Also, Th17 differentiation could further the disease progression by inhibiting Treg differentiation (Izcue et al. 2008). Thus, the Th17 cells in the gut environment is complex and demonstrated to have a dual role in disease protection and amplification.

With respect to the symbiosis of commensal bacteria, there is a mechanism to mediate T cell tolerance towards commensal gut microbiota and in the intestine. This mechanism is controlled by Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs or IL-10/TGF- $\beta$  producing iTreg cells. The production of IL-10 prevents the activation of M $\phi$  that inhibits the recruitment of T effector cells to the intestine (Asseman et al. 1999; Powrie 2004). In addition, intraepithelial  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have been demonstrated to induce and maintain oral tolerance by secretion of IL-10 (Kapp et al. 2004; Yue et al. 2013). Breakdown of tolerance in the intestines causes intestinal inflammation because the immune system overreacts to commensal bacterial antigens in genetically susceptible individuals or fail to down-regulate immune response. Inflammation reduces intestinal mucus layer which allows for more contact of the bacteria to the intestinal epithelial cells and increases interaction

with the immune system. Chronic intestinal inflammation ultimately manifests in ulcerative colitis (UC), an inflammatory bowel disease.

#### Ulcerative Colitis (UC)

Ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease are two major forms of IBD. The clinical symptoms include diarrhea, rectal bleeding, weight loss and abdominal pain (Podolsky 2002). The development of UC is influenced by multiple factors including genetic susceptibility and environmental factors like intestinal microbiota and the relationship of the gut microbiota and the immune system. Genetic susceptibility regions associated with UC are *IL-10* and *ARPC2* regulatory pathways as well as the known T1D susceptibility regions *HLA/MHC* and PTPN2 and PTPN22 (Kaser et al. 2010). Although it is not known whether altered gut microbiota is a causative factor of UC, it has been shown that the intestinal microbiota in mucosa of UC patients contains a high proportion of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Bacteroides fragilis and Clostridium difficile* while strains of *Lactobacillus* decrease during active colitis (Fabia et al. 1993; Wang et al. 2007).

Colitis in animal models can be pathogen induced (*Citrobacter rodentium*), genetically induced through *IL-10* deletion or alternatively chemically induced with dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) (Kaser et al. 2010). The DSS *in vivo* model has widely been used since the 1990's because when administered orally it can both induce acute and chronic colitis in rodents and because that the histopathological characteristics are similar to human UC (Okayasu et al. 1990). The mechanism by which DSS induces colitis is to the present day elusive. However, recent studies show that DSS can form nanovesicles with medium-chain-length-fatty acids (MCFA) which can fuse with colonocyte membrane. Delivery of the DSS into the epithelial cells can negatively affect the function and activate inflammatory signaling pathways which ultimately leads to

increased intestinal permeability (Laroui et al. 2012). Interestingly, MFCAs are present at high concentrations in the colonic lumen (Schmidt et al. 2011) and salts of the MFCAs capric and lauric acids have been shown to increase rectal drug absorption, probably due the effects on the intestinal tight junction barrier function (Laroui et al. 2012). Increased colonic mucosal permeability also allows increased translocation of bacteria and endotoxin from the lumen which can both induce inflammatory reaction and impinge on the function of the epithelial cells (Kitajima et al. 1999). Increased TLR recognition as the result of translocation of bacteria and endotoxins mediates increased cytokine production by monocytes that further amplifies the inflammatory process (Cario 2005). Thus, chemical initiation of inflammation by DSS could trigger and exaggerate the biological events of inflammation.

The cells present in the ulcerative lesions in the intestinal mucosa during acute inflammation include lymphocytes, mast cells, M\$\$\$ and neutrophils (Fiocchi 1997). In children with UC, an increase of Th-17 cells is observed in the colonic mucosa together with increased concentrations of the cytokines IL-6, IL-22 and IL-17 (Holtta et al. 2013). Interestingly, Hölttää *et al.* reported an increase in the number Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs and this finding is further discussed in Study IV. Previously, it was believed that the Th-2 cells were the main mediators of UC. However, at present it is well-known that Th-17 cells and the cytokines they secrete are also crucially involved in UC to initiate and enhance the inflammatory process (lvez 2014). The inflammatory M\$\$\$\$\$\$\$\$ are wellknown contributors to inflammation in IBDs. Another type of mediator in IBD are mast cells. In DSS-induced mouse model these cells release Mast cell protease 6, a tryptase that acts upstream of many factors implicated in IBD. The production of the enzyme after DSS treatment enhances pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines that specifically attract neutrophils and other extracellular matrix remodeling enzymes that partake in the DSS-mediated loss of epithelial cells. Thus, mast cells and their

production of tryptase are also important inflammatory instigator of IBD (Hamilton et al. 2011).

#### microRNAs

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) belong to a class of small endogenously expressed non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) and were first identified in 1993 by Lee *et al.* and Wightman *et al.*. They identified previously unknown RNA element regulating the developmental timing of *C. elegans*, the lin-4 and lin-14 (Lee et al. 1993; Wightman et al. 1993). In 1998, RNA interference (RNAi) was described by Fire *et al.* as the mechanism by which miRNAs regulate target mRNAs (Fire et al. 1998). After the discovery of the first miRNAs, in years 2000-2003, a set of papers was the big kick-off for the miRNA field showing that many miRNAs were not only expressed in *C. elegans* but in fact in all mammals and were very evolutionary conserved between species (Pasquinelli et al. 2000; Lagos-Quintana et al. 2001; Lau et al. 2001; Lee and Ambros 2001; Lagos-Quintana et al. 2001; Today, there are around ~2000 identified miRNAs in the database miRbase (http://www.mirbase.org) and notably, it is estimated that miRNAs can regulate approximately 60 % of the human genome (Friedman et al. 2009).

The size of miRNAs is around ~22 nucleotides and they regulate gene expression by direct binding of the miRNA to the 3'UTR of a target messenger RNA (mRNA). MiRNA binding to target mRNA typically leads to degradation of the mRNA or hindering the translation of the mRNA to protein (He and Hannon 2004). One miRNA can have several mRNA targets and miRNAs are often transcribed in clusters that work in networks in fine-tuning the regulation of for example cellular processes such as proliferation, developmental timing, cell differentiation, apoptosis and immune function (Bartel 2009).

#### miRNA biogenesis and function

During the canonical miRNA biogenesis pathway the miRNA gene is transcribed in the nucleus of the cell and the pri-miRNA is cleaved by the Drosha/DGCR8 microprocessor complex into a ~70 nucleotide long pre-miRNA (Lee et al. 2003; Cullen 2004; Han et al. 2004). The hairpin-looped pre-miRNA is then transported to the cytoplasm by Exportin 5 (Lund et al. 2004) and further processed by RNAse III endonuclease Dicer to a single stranded mature miRNA (Tomari and Zamore 2005). At this stage, the mature miRNA is incorporated into the RISC protein complex which directs the binding of the "seed region" of the miRNA to the 3'UTR of the target mRNA (Figure 5). This process results in the destabilization and degradation of mRNA or directly hinder translation (Pasquinelli et al. 2005; Bartel 2009).

Moreover, evidence suggests that miRNAs could exert their inhibitory function by binding to the 5'UTR of target mRNAs (Lytle et al. 2007; Orom et al. 2008). In contrast, miRNAs are also able to increase translation of target mRNA. Ørom *et al.* showed that miR-10a increased translation of mRNA encoding ribosomal proteins and by increasing ribosomal biogenesis, the level of global protein synthesis was also raised (Orom et al. 2008). Furthermore a "decoy function" has been suggested for miRNA-328 which independently of the 3' UTR seed sequence competitively interacts with a RNA binding protein, that normally inhibits translation and thereby indirectly lead to up-regulation of translation (Eiring et al. 2010). Also, epigenetic regulation by miRNAs

is indicated by direct binding to genomic DNA thus directing DNA methylation (Kim et al. 2008; Khraiwesh et al. 2010).



**Figure 5.** The miRNA gene is transcribed and the pri-miRNAs transcript is cleaved by the Drosha/DGCR8 microprocessor complex into a pre-miRNA that is exported to the cytoplasm by Exportin 5 and processed by Dicer into shorter mature miRNAs. The matured miRNA is then incorporated into the RISC protein complex that silence either translation of genes or induces the degradation of mRNAs.

In addition to the canonical miRNA biogenesis pathway, Dicer-independent miRNA biogenesis has been shown for miRNA-451 (Cheloufi et al. 2010; Cifuentes et al. 2010). The Argonaute2 (Ago 2) protein which is a member of the RISC complex contains a Piwi domain that acts as catalytic center for "slicer" activity that can cleave pre-miRNA transcripts (Cheloufi et al. 2010; Cifuentes et al. 2010). There are also Drosha-independent miRNAs transcribed from introns called the mirtrons. The mirtrons are Dicer dependent but bypasses Drosha processing by using RNA

sliceosome activity for pre-miRNA cleavage (Okamura et al. 2007; Flynt et al. 2010). Lately, many other types of small non-coding RNAs have been discovered including tRNAs, piRNAs, qiRNAs, vault RNAs, lincRNAs etc. and their biogenesis include both Dicer and/or Drosha dependent and independent biogenesis pathways (Carthew and Sontheimer 2009; Lee et al. 2009; Cesana et al. 2011; Yang and Lai 2011).

#### miRNAs in $\beta$ -cells and T1D

The absence of mature miRNAs after deletion of Dicer 1 demonstrates that canonical miRNA expression overall is necessary for normal development of the endocrine pancreas (Lynn et al. 2007) and for maintenance of  $\beta$ -cell mass as well as glucose homeostasis including insulin expression and insulin secretion (Morita et al. 2009; Kalis et al. 2011; Mandelbaum et al. 2012).

The miR-375 was among the first key miRNAs found to be highly abundant and important for the pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell function. It was shown that miR-375 regulates insulin secretion and maintenance of both  $\beta$ -and  $\alpha$ -cell mass (Poy et al. 2004; El Ouaamari et al. 2008; Poy et al. 2009). The crucial role of miR-375 was also demonstrated during pancreatic islet development in which the absence of miR-375 resulted in malformation of the pancreatic endocrine (Kloosterman et al. 2007). The miRNAs miR-24, miR-26, miR-182 and miR-148 are involved in insulin synthesis by inhibiting transcriptional repressors consequently resulting in increased insulin promoter activity (Melkman-Zehavi et al. 2011). The regulation of insulin secretion also involves miRNAs. Namely miRNAs miR-124, miR-96, miR-130a, miR-132, miR-212 and miR-335 have been linked to the regulation of insulin exocytosis (Lovis et al. 2008; Esguerra et al. 2011).

MiRNAs miR-21, miR-34, miR146a/b and miR-29 are pinpointed in the regulation of  $\beta$ -cells inflammatory response to pro-inflammatory cytokines in mice and humans, thus contributing to loss of  $\beta$ -cell mass during the progression of diabetes. For instance, miR-29 is involved in the down-regulation the anti-apoptotic protein Monocarboxylase transporter 1 (Mcl-1) that belongs to the Bcl-2 family (Roggli et al. 2010; Roggli et al. 2012). Recently, it was shown that a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in the pre-miR-34a gene in human and mouse insulinoma cell lines, led to increased amount of miR-34a in islets causing increased  $\beta$ -cells apoptosis (Locke et al. 2013). Additionally, miR-21 has been shown to be up-regulated by NF- $\kappa$ B activation which by mediating suppression of programmed cell death 4 (PDCD-4) increases  $\beta$ -cell apoptosis through Bax (Ruan et al. 2011).

#### miRNAs in T cells and the immune system

The role of miRNA regulation in T cells has been investigated in various Dicer deletion models. Cobb *et al.* demonstrated by deleting Dicer during early thymocyte development (mediated by Lck or CD4 promoters) that canonical miRNAs are essential for the number of surviving  $\alpha\beta$  T cells but redundant for CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> lineage commitment (Cobb et al. 2005). While Dicer deletion from DP cortical thymocytes showed a moderate effect on CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell numbers, the invariant NK T cell development was affected with largely diminished numbers (Fedeli et al. 2009).

Deletion of Dicer and DGCR8 in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells illustrated that miRNAs are also important for nTreg development and function (Cobb et al. 2006) as well as Foxp3 expression stability (Jeker et al. 2013). Cobb *et al.* showed that the miRNA expression profile in activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells differed from the miRNA expression in regulatory T cells (Cobb et al. 2006). More recent evidence suggests that miRNAs expressed in

activated T cells mediate regulation of pathways that would be involved in inactivation of T cell activity (Grigoryev et al. 2011).

Moreover, Dicer has been shown to be crucial for CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation, function and migration (Zhang and Bevan 2010). Zhang *et al.* found this to be a consequence of the inability of Dicer deficient cells to down-regulate CD69 after activation. CD69 down-regulation was then demonstrated to be regulated by miR-130/miR-301 cluster (Zhang and Bevan 2010). In CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, miR-17-92 gene cluster was up-regulated after T cell activation, but instead down-regulated in CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells (Wu et al. 2012). Wu *et al.* demonstrated that on overexpression of miR-17-92 the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are driven towards effector T cell function and the development of CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells is impaired (Wu et al. 2012). In contrast, the miR-150, miR-155 and let-7 family need to be up-regulated in a differentiation window during development of CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells (Almanza et al. 2010).

The miR-155 is essential miRNA in the regulation of overall immune system and is necessary for the immune function of B-cells, T cells, DCs (Tlaskalova-Hogenova et al.) and Tregs (Rodriguez et al. 2007; Thai et al. 2007; Vigorito et al. 2007; Lu et al. 2009) as well as macrophage inflammatory response (O'Connell et al. 2007; Tili et al. 2007). Another key miRNA, miR-181a, is expressed in high levels during T cell development and is involved in altering TCR signaling threshold (Li et al. 2007). Inhibition of miR-181a expression impaired both positive and negative selection. By changing the sensitivity of the TCR signaling during thymocyte maturation, inhibition of miR-181 was shown to lead to maturation of autoreactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Ebert et al. 2009). Li *et al.* also demonstrated that miR-181a reduced expression of several phosphatases which negatively regulates TCR signaling e.g. DUSP5/6, SHP2 and PTPN22. In other words, miR-181a/b in early thymocyte development only reduced

the overall numbers but did not change the percentages of TCR $\alpha\beta$  cell compartment (Henao-Mejia et al. 2013). This indicates the complexity of miRNA networks and the role of miRNAs as fine-tuning regulators of gene expression.

Recently, miR-146a was shown to be up-regulated after T cell activation of both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> cells in a NF- $\kappa$ B dependent manner and proposed to be involved in a negative feedback loop where miR-146 up-regulation, down-regulated NF- $\kappa$ B partially by TRAF6 and IRAK1 signaling (Yang et al. 2012). In addition Yang *et al.* found that T cells lacking miR-146 are hyperactive and caused systemic T cell mediated autoimmunity and chronic inflammation *in vivo*.

MiR-10a has been shown to be preferentially expressed in Tregs, although miR-10 (as well as previously mentioned miR-155) alone seems to be dispensable for Foxp3 induction in naïve T cells and overall Treg function (Jeker et al. 2012). This supports the notion of miRNA regulation by networks. In Study II, we investigated the role of the canonical miRNA network for early T cell development in NOD mice and the consequences for development of T1D.

#### miRNAs in cell cycle checkpoint control and apoptosis

Several lines of evidence suggesting that miRNAs are involved in the regulation of targets in the cell cycle check point and in apoptosis. The first miRNA gene families shown to regulate the p53 apoptosis pathway (implicated in G1 cell cycle checkpoint during thymocyte development) includes the miR-29 (miR-29a/b/c) and miR-34 (miR-34a/b/c) gene families (Tarasov et al. 2007). In addition, up- and down-regulation of genes by these two miRNA gene families are significantly overlapping with genes regulated in DNA damage response.

MiRNA-29 family genes were demonstrated to increase p53 activation in human cell lines through the direct suppression of two negative regulators of p53, the p85a subunit of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K) and CDC42 (a Rho family GTPase), involved in controlling cellular survival and apoptosis (Park et al. 2009). In addition, upregulation of miR-29 was demonstrated in response to DNA damage by suppression of the protein phosphatase Ppm1 leading to stabilization of p53 (Ugalde et al. 2011).

Upon DNA damage the miR-34 gene family (miR-34a/b/c) up-regulates p53 in both human and mice. MiR-34-dependent up-regulation of p53 induces cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis by suppression of amongst others cyclin-E2, cyclin-dependent kinase 4 (CDK4), E2F3 and p53 downstream target b-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) genes (Bommer et al. 2007; He et al. 2007; Raver-Shapira et al. 2007; Tarasov et al. 2007).

MiRNAs being negatively regulated after DNA damage have also been reported. For instance, miR-155 and miR-125 that have been demonstrated to be down-regulated after DNA damage in a p53-dependent manner in limbs of *Drosophila melanogaster* (Gueta et al. 2010). Additionally, Le *et al.* reported that miR-125b is a negative regulator of p53 by directly suppressing p53 protein translation in human cell lines and zebra fish (Le et al. 2009).

In a human cancer cell line, the over-expression of miR-16 family genes resulted in G0/G1 cell cycle arrest by targeting CDK6 (Linsley et al. 2007). In addition, miR-15a and miR-16-1 have shown to directly regulate Bcl-2 mRNA in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) patients (Cimmino et al. 2005).

Additionally, inhibition of miR-17-92 in a lung cancer cell line decreased the suppression of E2F1 leading to induction of apoptosis (O'Donnell et al. 2005;

Matsubara et al. 2007). E2F1 is an upstream target of p53 with a demonstrated role during negative selection in thymocyte development (Garcia et al. 2000).

It is highly likely that the expression pattern of a miRNAs network is regulating several targets in the G1 cell cycle checkpoint /p53 apoptosis pathways initiating cell cycle progression or apoptosis in thymocytes. In Study I, we are investigating the contribution of miR-29 (a/b/c), miR-34 (a/b/c), miR-125b, miR-155 and miR-203 to the apoptosis resistant phenotype of the NOD lymphocytes in response to DNA damage induced by  $\gamma$ -irradiation as a model for thymocyte apoptosis induction during development.

# AIMS OF THIS THESIS

The general overall objective of this thesis was to investigate the regulatory role of miRNAs in autoimmunity, particularly in the development of T1D, as well as the influence of environmental factors like gut microbiota on intestinal inflammation and T1D.

Specific aims:

- To investigate whether miRNAs could be involved in the molecular mechanism of thymocyte apoptosis in NOD mice
- To study the overall regulatory role of miRNAs in T cells and their effects on the development of T1D in NOD mice
- To investigate the effect of antibiotics treated pregnant NOD mice on the immune system of the offspring, intestinal microbiota and development of T1D
- To study the interplay between the gut microbiota and the immune system in the development of colitis, an experimental model of IBD

# METHODOLOGY

### Animal models

#### Non-obese diabetic mouse (NOD)

Since the discovery in the 1980's by the Japanese group Makino et al. that the inbred NOD mouse strain spontaneously develops diabetes, it has been the most commonly used model of human T1D. Main reasons for this are the similarities of strong genetic MHC basis and pathogenesis including islet infiltration by mononuclear cells. The infiltration in the NOD mouse occurs at approximately 6-8 weeks of age leading to a progressive decrease of β-cell mass and development of diabetes and ketoacidosis from 12-17 weeks of age (Makino et al. 1980). The involvement of T cells in the initiation of T1D in the NOD mouse is very well studied. For example, it is known that both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells have been shown to be involved in the pathogenesis of T1D in NOD mice (Tisch and McDevitt 1996). Recently, γδ T cells (expressing CD27-CD44<sup>hi</sup> or CD27<sup>+</sup>CD44<sup>lo</sup>) have also been shown to infiltrate islets in pre-diabetic NOD mice and mediate diabetes development together with the  $\alpha\beta$  T cells. Interestingly, the combined effect of both cell types on disease development is more significant than the effect caused the  $\alpha\beta$  T cells alone. In addition, the  $\gamma\delta$  T cells were shown to be preprogrammed to secrete IL-17 or IFN-y upon activation, which may be involved in contributing to the pathogenesis of T1D by increasing inflammation in the pancreatic islets. Moreover,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells isolated from spleen and pancreatic lymph nodes are reactivity against the insulin peptide (Zhang et al. 2010). In contrast, the  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have also been demonstrated to be involved in the protection against T1D by upregulation of TGF-β production (Han et al. 2010).

Another advantage of the animal model is the high diabetes incidence of 60-80 % in NOD females (Makino et al. 1980). However, the sex-bias in the disease incidence in the NOD mouse differs compared to human T1D where the incidence is fairly similar in both sexes. The NOD mouse has similar genetic pre-disposition as humans with T1D susceptibility linked dominantly to the MHC class II, which is encoded by the I-A<sup>g7</sup> gene in mouse and is equivalent to the HLA class II gene in human (Wicker et al. 1995). In addition, recessive genes have been mapped in more than 20 susceptibility regions- the Idd regions. However, new data suggests that NOD mouse has more association to T2D genes than T1D which are related to insulin resistance, vascular pathology and endoplasmic reticulum stress (Chaparro et al. 2006).

Some developmental defects affecting central tolerance of the NOD mouse have previously been highlighted. Yui *et al.* demonstrated that defective  $\beta$ -selection checkpoint control which allows further differentiation of NOD thymocytes in the absence of functional pre-TCR signaling (Yui and Rothenberg 2004). Further, Kishimoto *et al.* reported that defective thymic negative selection caused by decreased sensitivity of thymocytes to undergo apoptosis, involves both Fas-dependent and independent pathways (Kishimoto and Sprent 2001). Peripheral NOD lymphocytes have also been shown to be apoptosis resistant in response to treatment with apoptosis inducing agents (Colucci et al. 1996). These defects in apoptosis of NOD lymphocytes may allow escape of autoreactive T cells and contribute to the breakdown of central and peripheral tolerance in the NOD mouse and finally resulting in the pre-disposition to the development of autoimmune diabetes.

#### C57BL/6

The C57BL/6 (also referred to as B6) is one of the most commonly used inbred strains of wild-type mice. In Study I, where NOD lymphocyte apoptosis resistance in response

to  $\gamma$ -irradiation was investigated, the C57BL/6 mice were used as control mice. In Study IV, DSS treatment was performed on C57BL/6 mice to induce intestinal inflammation. This genetic background is susceptible for induction of inflammatory pathology of ulcerative colitis with DSS (Melgar et al. 2005).

#### NOD.Lck-Cre *Dicer* $1^{\Delta/\Delta}$ mice

In Study II, we used Dicer<sup>flox/flox</sup> mice and backcrossed for 11 generations with NOD mice to generate a NOD.DicerFlox mouse. Then Cre-Lox system was used to mediate deletion of Lck (involved in signaling of the T cell receptor) by the Cre recombinase. This generated a mouse with T cell specific Dicer 1 deletion and thus also the absence of mature canonical miRNAs in T cells from the DN4 stage of T cell development. The NOD.Lck-Cre *Dicer*  $1^{\Delta/\Delta}$  mouse was characterized in Study II.

## Flow Cytometry

Fluorescence assisted cell sorting (FACS) is a method used in all our studies to *ex vivo* detect different cell T cell populations in thymus and peripheral lymph nodes based on the expression of cell surface markers, as well as intracellular markers like the transcription factor Foxp3, using fluorescently labeled antibodies. FACS was also used in Study I to assess the amount of apoptotic cells in thymus respectively pancreatic islets of different mouse strains, which is further described in the next section about apoptosis assays.

FACS is based on a system of lasers that hit a stream of single cells which flow in a suspension through the nozzle. The light is deflected by the cells into mirrors that directs specific wavelengths of light to detectors by filters (Figure 6). The forward scatter (FSC) is giving information about the size of the cell whereas side scatter gives

information about the granularity of the cell (Ortis et al.). The color detectors collect emitted light from the excited flurochromes on the antibodies used to detect specific cell markers. Different fluorochromes have different emission spectra and each marker can therefore be detected in separate channels. The computer software converts the information relayed by the detectors to digital information that can be visualized and analyzed in histograms and plots.



**Figure 6.** FACS is a laser-based technique used to study cell populations defined by expression of specific cellular markers that are fluorescently labeled by antibodies. As the single-cell suspension is passing through the laser beam fluorochrome on the antibodies is excited and emits a specific wavelength of light which after being deflected by mirrors is passing through filters into detectors. Forward scatter detects the size of the cell and side scatter detects the granularity. The color detectors can catch emission spectra from different fluorochromes in the different channels (FL-1 to FL-3 in the figure) used to identify different cellular markers. The signals are visualized in computer software as histograms and plots.

## Apoptosis assays

#### Propidium Iodide staining

PI staining is used in Study I to assess the cellular apoptosis of thymocytes by measuring the percentage of cells in the subdiploid peak. The fluorescent stain binds to the major groove of DNA and thus shows the DNA content of the cell and is also used to visualize the cell cycle progression of the cells in the sample.



**Figure 7.** Dotplot of propidium iodide staining showing the subdiploid peak and the percentage of gated cells in the G0/G1 phase, M phase and G2 phase.

#### Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick labeling (TUNEL)

TUNEL staining is used in Study I to measure the amount of apoptotic thymocytes in NOD respectively wild-type mice after  $\gamma$ -irradiation. The cell sample was incubated with the deoxynucleotidyl transferase that incorporate nucleotides that cannot be further extended, the dUTPs, into single-strand breaks in the DNA of apoptotic cells therefore giving the reaction the name terminal nick labeling. The dUTPs are

fluorescently labeled and the fluorescence of the dUTPs incorporated in the DNA of the cells in the sample can be measured for example with flow cytometry.



**Figure 8.** Dotplot of TUNEL staining showing the percentage of gated apoptotic cells. The number apoptotic cells were assessed as the percent of FITC-positive cells.

# TaqMan quantitative PCR (qPCR)

Analysis of miRNA expression in Study I and II was performed using the TaqMan technology from Applied Biosystems which can differentiate between precursor and mature miRNAs and also between different miRNAs in a gene family that only differes by one nucleotide. Target specific stem-loop primers are used in the reverse transcription reaction to amplify miRNA sequence from total RNA including short <200 nt fragments (prepared with Qiagen miRNAeasy). The product is then used in a quantitative real-time PCR with fluorescently labeled probes using the reporter dye FAM (6-carboxy-fluorescein) and ROX as the quencher dye.



**Figure 9.** The principle of TaqMan technology. Stem-loop primers used in miRNA qPCR to analyse miRNA expression. *Adapted from Applied Biosystems online tutorial of miRNA research tools.* 

# Terminal Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (T-RFLP)

TRFL-P is a PCR based method used to analyze intestinal microbiota and was used in Study III and IV. First, a PCR reaction is performed with fluorescently labeled, random hexamer primers that are used to amplify the bacterial genomic DNA and the PCR product is then cleaved by a restriction enzyme (Msp I was used in studies III-IV) and different bacterial strains will be restricted differently based on the genomic sequence of the bacteria. The fragments formed are sequenced and based on the length of the restricted fragments; the fluorescence from the sequences will be different which is represented as peaks in the analysis program. Since the peak area will be different for different bacterial strains different bacterial taxa will have lower or higher relative peak area (peak area of bacterial strain/total peak area). A principal component analysis (PCA), which is a statistical method, was used to visualize differences in samples with same the properties. PCA clusters the bacterial taxa present in intestine based on the relative peak area in the sample.



**Figure 10.** The principle of TRFL-P. Bacterial genomic DNA is extracted and PCR amplification with strain specific, fluorescently labeled primers is performed. The PCR product is digested with a restriction enzyme and restriction fragment sequenced after gel electrophoresis. The detected fluorescence is presented by a computer software as peaks in graph plotting fragment size against fluorescence intensity. Different bacterial strain DNA will be restricted differently and therefore one fluorescence peak detected will correspond to the relative amount of a specific bacterial taxa.

# Cytokine detection assay (Luminex)

Cytokine analysis was performed on Serum from mice (study IV) using the bead-based Luminex platform. The beads which are bound to the primary catch antibody, were first incubated with the serum. After washing away excess substrate not bound to the beads, the secondary antibody coupled with phycoerythrin (PE), were added. After a final wash the plate was read similarly to an ELISA assay. The advantages the Luminex assay is its multiplexing capability which can analyze several protein analytes at the same time. This is made possible due to the different regions of the bead that emit 62 fluorescence when excited by a laser. The measured fluorescence is re-calculated by the software based on a standard curve using regression-analysis into concentrations of cytokines in the serum.



**Figure 11**. The principle of the Bio-Plex system. A magnetic bead bound to a catch antibody is incubated with the substrate (biomarker of interest). Excess unbound substrate is washed away and a secondary antibody coupled to a flourochrome (PE), is added. After incubation with the secondary antibody and a final washing step, a plate reader is used to detect the biomarker of interest. The emitted fluorescence is detected after being excitation by a laser. The computer software then employs a mathematical algorithm to calculate the concentration of the biomarker of interest in the sample.

# **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

# Study I

Clonal deletion during thymocyte maturation is essential to avoid defective and potentially self-reactive T cells. Defects in T cell maturation in the NOD mouse has previously been described, both at the cell-cycle checkpoint after  $\beta$ -selection and during negative selection. More specifically, Yui *et al.* have demonstrated defects in the  $\beta$ -selection checkpoint control allowing continued thymocyte development even in absence of proper pre-TRC re-arrangement (Yui and Rothenberg 2004). Also, Kishimoto *et al.* have shown that NOD thymocytes have increased apoptosis resistance during negative selection (Kishimoto and Sprent 2001). This might ultimately contribute to breakdown of the central tolerance and predispose the NOD mouse for the development of spontaneous T1D.

There are reports suggesting that p53 is involved in regulation of the cell-cycle checkpoint and apoptosis after  $\beta$ -selection (Guidos et al. 1996; Jiang et al. 1996; Haks et al. 1999; Costello et al. 2000). Additionally, during negative selection thymocytes with high affinity to self-antigens are deleted by apoptosis potentially via p53 regulation (Zhu et al. 1999; Quaglino and Ronchetti 2001).

Also, peripheral NOD lymphocytes have been observed to have a defect apoptosis induction in response to apoptosis inducing agents (Leijon et al. 1994; Colucci et al. 1996; Lamhamedi-Cherradi et al. 1998).

In Study I, we confirmed previous observations by showing that NOD thymocytes and lymphocytes are apoptosis resistant in response to treatment with low dose (6 Gy)

whole body  $\gamma$ -irradiation. Apoptosis of thymocytes and peripheral lymphocytes from NOD and wild-type (C57BL/6) mice was analyzed with TUNEL and PI staining and visualized with flow cytometry. We show that there are lower percentage of cells in both thymus and lymph nodes of NOD mice that underwent apoptosis ten hours after  $\gamma$ -irradiation compared with B6 wild-type mice.

Several miRNA gene families have been shown to be involved in p53-mediated apoptosis pathways. Examples are the miR-29 (miR-29a/b/c) and miR-34 (a/b/c) gene families. MiR-29a has been demonstrated to stabilize p53 by suppressing a regulatory subunit (p85a) of PI3K and the Rho family GTPase CDC42 (Park et al. 2009). Additionally, Bommer et al. showed that miR-34a expression is directly up-regulated by p53 (Bommer et al. 2007). MiR-34a is proposed to be involved in a positive feedback loop with p53 by suppressing the Silent information regulator 1 (SIRT1) (Yamakuchi et al. 2008; Yamakuchi and Lowenstein 2009). Conversely, miR-125b and miR-155 were demonstrated to be negative regulators of p53 and are down-regulated after DNA damage (Le et al. 2009; Gueta et al. 2010). In this study, we investigated the expression of miRNAs 34 a/b/c, miR-29a, miR-125b, miR-155 and miR-203 with qPCR. We show that the miR-34 gene family (miR-34a/b/c) expression profile is different in NOD thymocytes compared to wild-type B6 thymocytes (Figure 12a). In addition, miR-34b and miR-34c were not properly up-regulated in NOD thymocytes after  $\gamma$ -irradiation compared to B6 thymocytes (Figure 12b). There is also differential expression of miR-125b in NOD thymocytes compared to B6 mice both before and after  $\gamma$ -irradiation (Figure 12c) resulting in a net down-regulation of miR-125b in NOD thymocytes compared to B6 mice (Figure 12d). Moreover, the expression of miR-155 were higher in NOD thymocytes compared to B6 after  $\gamma$ -irradiation (Figure



12e) resulting in a net up-regulation in miR-155 in NOD thymocytes after  $\gamma$ -irradiation (Figure 12f).

**Figure 12.** (a) miRNA profiling of NOD thymocytes with qPCR shows differential expression of the miR-34a/b/c family in the NOD thymocytes both before and after  $\gamma$ -irradiation. (b) The delta expression of miR-34 gene family, comparing before and after irradiation, shows that miR-34b and miR-34c are not properly up-regulated in NOD thymocytes compared to B6 mice. (c) The miR-125b is differentially expressed in NOD thymocytes before and after  $\gamma$ -irradiation compared to B6 mice. (d) The delta expression of miR-125b shows a down-regulation in NOD thymocytes compared to B6 thymocytes after irradiation. (e) The miR-155 is differentially expressed in NOD thymocytes after  $\gamma$ -irradiation compared to B6 mice. (f) The delta expression of miR-155 shows that the miRNA is up-regulated in NOD thymocytes efter  $\gamma$ -irradiation. Student's *t*-test (two-tailed), p< 0.05= \*; p<0.01= \*\*; p<0.001= \*\*\*.

We believe that altered miRNA regulation network in NOD lymphocytes could contribute to defective apoptosis regulation in NOD lymphocytes. Particularly, the defect up-regulation of the miR-34b and c after  $\gamma$ -irradiation in NOD thymocytes
(Figure 11c, d). However, it has also been reported that miR-34 gene family is redundant in the regulation of p53 and down-streams targets p21, Bax, Mdm2 as well as PUMA *in vivo* in mouse thymus (Concepcion et al. 2012).

We therefore investigated the protein expression of several targets in the cell-cycle (cabl, cyclin D1, p21, p27) and p53 in NOD lymphocytes by Western blot. We could show that p53 was the only target which was not properly up-regulated in NOD thymocytes and peripheral lymphocytes compared to wild-type mice after  $\gamma$ -irradiation (figure 13).



**Figure 13.** Defective up-regulation of p53 in NOD thymocytes and peripheral lymphocytes after  $\gamma$ -irradiation compared to wild-type B6 mice.

In conclusion, our data suggest that altered expression level of miR-34a/b/c and miR-125b in NOD thymocytes compared to B6 thymocytes could explain the defective up-regulation of p53 in NOD lymphocytes and thus contribute to the apoptosis resistance phenotype in NOD lymphocytes. This could ultimately contribute to impairing central and peripheral tolerance and predispose the NOD mouse to autoimmune diabetes.

#### Study II

Canonical miRNAs have been shown to be important in the early development of T cells and the absence of miRNAs greatly affect  $\alpha\beta$  T cell numbers but does not impair the CD4/CD8 lineage commitment (Cobb et al. 2005). Deletion of canonical miRNAs from CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells results in defective differentiation of nTregs in the thymus and induction/stability of Foxp3 in peripheral Tregs (Cobb et al. 2006; Jeker et al. 2013).

Moreover, T cell response *in vivo* in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells that lack canonical miRNAs is reduced (Zhang and Bevan 2010). Zhang *et al.* also demonstrated that despite increased activation and proliferation *in vitro* the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells lacking canonical miRNAs failed to down-regulate CD69 which probably inhibited the cells migration ability *in vivo* (Zhang and Bevan 2010).

In this study, we investigated how deletion of canonical miRNAs during early thymocyte development in NOD mice would affect the overall immunological balance between the effector T cells and Tregs and how this would affect the outcome of diabetes development. Initially, we validated the deletion of *Dicer1* in sorted DP thymocytes and CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> splenocytes of the NOD.Lck-Cre *Dicer1*<sup>Δ/Δ</sup> mouse. We then performed an immunophenotyping of the T cell populations of primary and secondary lymphoid organs. We found that the total cellularity of the thymus, spleen and MLN but not peri-pancreatic LN (pLN) of the NOD.Lck-Cre *Dicer1*<sup>Δ/Δ</sup> mouse was decreased. The immunophenotyping by flow cytometry showed a significant decrease in the DP thymocytes but only a slight and not significant decrease in the amount of nTregs in the thymus of the NOD.Lck-Cre *Dicer1*<sup>Δ/Δ</sup> mouse compared to NOD.*Dicer1*<sup>flox/flox</sup> control littermates. Similarly to published data by Cobb *et al.*, we show that the cell populations that decreased mainly belonged to the  $\alpha\beta$  T cells with no significant increase in the  $\gamma\delta$  T cells. Furthermore, we observed a significant

reduction of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in both spleen and MLN in addition to a significant decrease of CD4<sup>+</sup>  $\alpha\beta$  T cells in the spleen of NOD.Lck-Cre *Dicer1*<sup>Δ/Δ</sup> mice compared to NOD.*Dicer1*<sup>flox/flox</sup> mice. However, there was only a slight non-significant decrease of nTregs in the secondary lymphoid organs (spleen, MLN and pLN). Interestingly, the percentage of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> effector memory T cells was increased in spleen and MLN of NOD.Lck-Cre *Dicer1*<sup>Δ/Δ</sup> mice. However, when the results were normalized for the amount of cells there was a reduction in the total number of effector memory T cells. This indicates that the lack of canonical miRNA network is driving the CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells into memory phenotype. Unfortunately, we have not yet elucidated the importance of specific miRNAs in the different immunophenotyped T cell populations. We will next perform a miRNA profiling to be able to study the regulatory role of particular miRNAs or groups of miRNAs for the function of different T cell populations. In the future we will also study the functionality of the NOD.Lck-Cre *Dicer1*<sup>Δ/Δ</sup> effector cells respectively Treg cells *in vivo* by adoptive transfer experiments.

Here, we show the overall effects of canonical miRNA deletion in different T cell populations for the development of autoimmune diabetes. Also, we showed a significantly decreased leukocyte infiltration in NOD.Lck-Cre *Dicer1*<sup> $\Delta/\Delta$ </sup> pancreatic islets compared to NOD.*Dicer1*<sup>Aox/Hox</sup> control littermates. Finally, we investigated the diabetes incidence of NOD.Lck-Cre *Dicer1*<sup> $\Delta/\Delta$ </sup> mice. We did not observe a difference in the diabetes incidence of NOD.Lck-Cre *Dicer1*<sup> $\Delta/\Delta$ </sup> females compared with control littermates but a significant increase in the diabetes incidence of male NOD.Lck-Cre *Dicer1*<sup> $\Delta/\Delta$ </sup> mice.</sup>



**Figure 14.** Diabetes incidence of the female and male NOD.Lck-Cre  $Dicer1^{\Delta/\Delta}$  mice. There is no difference in diabetes incidence of the female NOD.Lck-Cre  $Dicer1^{\Delta/\Delta}$  mice compared to mice NOD. $Dicer1^{flox/flox}$  control littermates and NOD.Lck-Cre  $Dicer1^{\Delta/wt}$  heterozygote mice (left panel). Male NOD.Lck-Cre  $Dicer1^{\Delta/\Delta}$  mice displayed significantly higher diabetes incidence (Student's *t*-test, two-tailed, p<0.01=\*\*) compared to NOD. $Dicer1^{flox/flox}$  control littermates and NOD.Lck-Cre  $Dicer1^{\Delta/wt}$  heterozygote littermates.

Due to the differential diabetes incidence between the genders we can speculate on the potential involvement of sex hormone-mediated regulation of miRNAs in our model. Sex-mediated differential miRNA expression patterns are present in both humans and mice (Ilnytskyy et al. 2008; Ciaudo et al. 2009; Langevin et al. 2010). More specifically, estrogen up-regulate transcription of a group of miRNAs and there are indications that Dicer might be regulated by estrogen (Bhat-Nakshatri et al. 2009; Shao et al. 2011). Further, certain miRNAs have also been shown to regulate the levels androgen expression in prostate cancer cells (Ostling et al. 2011; Hagman et al. 2013).

Additionally, androgen has been demonstrated to regulate Dicer and is proposed to be involved in a positive feedback-loop in which androgen is increasing miRNA expression which in turn increases androgen levels (Narayanan et al. 2010). Indeed, there seems to be a link between sex-hormone regulation and miRNAs that could potentially generate differential outcome in T cell proliferation and ultimately result in different disease incidence of T1D.

#### Study III

Commensal gut microbiota is important for proper development of the immune system and maintenance of tolerance in the intestinal tract in several ways. Certain gut microbiota is linked to T1D and children with T1D (or progressing towards T1D) display altered gut microbiota with decreased amount of bacteria of the Firmicute phylum and increased amount of bacteria belonging to the Bacteroidetes phylum (Giongo et al. 2011). The maternal gut microbiota is the first source of bacteria which the child comes in contact with and could influence the development of the immune system of the infant. Therefore, in order to understand how the gut microbiota could potentially affect the immune system and diabetes development in the offspring, we investigated the effect of induced disturbance of commensal maternal gut microbiota by antibiotic treatment. This is an important subject because it is common for pregnant women to receive antibiotics for different infections during pregnancy (Lim et al. 2003; Andrade et al. 2004; Le et al. 2004; Chan et al. 2013). In addition, antibiotics treatment of pregnant mothers has recently been associated with increased risk of allergic disease but little is known about the effects for the development of T1D (McKeever et al. 2002; Metsala et al. 2013).

We treated the pregnant NOD mice with a broad-spectrum antibiotics mix consisting of neomycin, polymyxin and metronidazol to alter the normal maternal gut microbiota. Next, we followed the development of spontaneous T1D development in the NOD offspring. By performing a TRFL-P analysis we found that the offspring to NOD mice treated with antibiotics displayed decreased diversity of intestinal microbiota and also differential clustering of the present microbiota, which was illustrated by clustering of the intestinal gut microbiota (TRFs) with a PCA analysis. This means that modulation of the maternal intestinal microbiota with antibiotics resulted in both decreased diversity and changed the composition of the intestinal microbiota in the offspring.



**Figure 15.** The clustering of the intestinal gut microbiota with PCA. There is different clustering of the TRFs in offspring to mothers treated with antibiotics mix during pregnancy compared to offspring to control mothers.

Next, we performed T cell analysis of different T cell populations from MLN and Peyer's patches in offspring to mothers treated with antibiotics and control mothers. We show that there was a significant decrease of percentage gated CD3<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells

in the MLN of offspring to mothers treated with antibiotics. In the Peyer's patches we show a significant reduction in the percentage gated CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> T cells in the offspring to mothers treated with antibiotics during pregnancy. Additionally, there was a significant decrease in the percentage gated naïve CD4<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>+</sup> T cells and CD4<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>-</sup> memory T cells in the Peyer's patches of offspring to treated mothers. Interestingly, the modulation of intestinal microbiota during pregnancy due to antibiotics treatment seems to have influenced alterations in T cell populations in MLN and Peyer's patches.

Additionally, we investigated if these changes in the intestinal gut microbiota and T cell alterations of the NOD offspring would contribute to altered development of T1D diabetes. We show a modulation of diabetes in the offspring to mothers treated with antibiotics at 20 weeks of age but at the end of the monitoring period at 30 weeks of age there is no significant difference in diabetes incidence between the offspring groups.



**Figure 16.** In the offspring from mothers treated with antibiotics during pregnancy there seems to be a modulation of diabetes incidence (p<0.05=\*) at 20 weeks of age but at the end of the monitoring period there is no significant difference in diabetes incidence between the two offspring groups.

In conclusion, we show that the modulation of the maternal gut microbiota during pregnancy with antibiotics treatment generated persistent changes in the intestinal gut microbiota diversity and composition of the offspring. These changes seem to have induced the demonstrated alterations of different T cell populations in the MLN and Peyer's patches in offspring to mothers treated with antibiotics during pregnancy. Although we believe that these effects modulate the development of T1D in the offspring from the antibiotics treated mothers at 20 weeks of age, we could not observe persistent effects. Further studies in a human population would be needed to fully understand the potential risk factors of antibiotics treatment during pregnancy for the development of autoimmune diabetes.

### Study IV

It is known that the interaction between the immune system and the intestinal microbiota can be important for the outcome of intestinal inflammation and UC. However, how the global composition of intestinal microbiota changes and ultimately contribute to the disease is not completely understood. To study this we used the DSS model because it is the most commonly used animal model for UC and because of the many clinical and histopathological similarities with human UC (Okayasu et al. 1990; Melgar et al. 2005).

We induced UC in wild-type C57BL/6 mice through chemical induction by administration of 4 % DSS in the drinking water. The mice were then analyzed for the relationship between UC and gut microbiota as well as the immune response. The analysis of the colonic intestinal microbiota was performed with TRFL-P. Although we

did not find any decrease in overall diversity we show a differential clustering pattern after PCA of the intestinal gut microbiota in the DSS group comparing to control mice.



R2X[1] = 0,175216 R2X[2] = 0,126381

**Figure 17.** PCA 3D plot showing the bacterial clustering pattern. There is differential clustering of the DSS treated animals (green circles) and control animals (red circles).

Our qPCR analysis showed that the amount of *Lactobacillus* decreased whereas the number of bacteria belonging to the *Akkersmansia* and *Desulfovibrio* genera increased after DSS treatment. Additionally, *Enterobacteriaceae* (*Escherichia coli*) was present at a much higher incidence in the DSS group compared to control group. In concordance with our results an increase in *Bacteroides*, *Clostridium* and decrease in the *Lactobacillus* genera is reported to be associated with UC in humans and mice (Fabia et al. 1993; Garcia-Lafuente et al. 1997). Moreover, in support to our qPCR data, the increased presence of the *Desulfovibrio* and *Enterobacteriaceae* genera has been associated with UC in humans (Mylonaki et al. 2005; Rowan et al. 2010). Interestingly, *Akkersmansia* 

*muciniphila* is a mucin degrading bacteria (Eckburg et al. 2005) and could thus be involved in the degradation of the colonic mucous layer during UC.



**Figure 18.** Mucosal bacterial populations identified with qPCR. Mann-Whitney rank sum test, p< 0.05= \*; p<0.01= \*\*.

The intestinal neutrophil infiltration was assessed by myeloperoxidase (MPO) activity and was found to be increased in colon but not in small intestine. MPO is a neutrophil enzyme and has previously been associated with increased neutrophil infiltration during UC (Kristjansson et al. 2004). To assess the level of systemic inflammation, inflammatory cytokines in serum were investigated. We showed an increase in proinflammatory cytokines IL-6, IL-17 and the chemokine KC (a neutrophil attractant). In concordance to our results, these pro-inflammatory cytokines have previously been shown during the pathogenesis of chronic IBD in humans and mice and more specifically, IL-17 is connected to induction of Th17 cells (Yen et al. 2006; Alex et al. 2009; Holtta et al. 2013).

We additionally analyzed different lymphocyte populations, M $\phi$ , and DCs in spleen, Peyer's patches and MLN using flow cytometry. We found significantly increased percentage of Tregs (co-expressing CTLA-4) in spleen, MLN, Peyer's patches. In spite of the presence of intestinal inflammation, we observed increased frequency of Tregs. In support, similar findings have been reported by Hölttä *et al.* in children with UC who demonstrated an increase in colonic Tregs (Holtta et al. 2013). It is possible that even in the presence of the increased frequency of Tregs these cells cannot reverse the disease progression (Yu et al. 2007). Alternatively, the functionality of the Tregs might be inhibited by TLR signaling.

We also showed increased percentage of CD11b<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> expressing and CD11c<sup>+</sup>TLR-4<sup>+</sup> DCs cells in the MLN. Increased TLR signaling may indicate increased interaction between intestinal microbiota and the immune system. In other words, the enhanced interaction could be an effect of altered gut microbiota which results in greater immune responses leading to intestinal inflammation (Hart et al. 2005).

By investigating the changes in gut microbiota during DSS-induced colitis and the immunophenotype we can contribute to a more clear understanding of the active role that the intestinal microbiota play in the interaction with the gut immune system during intestinal inflammation in UC.

## SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

In the first two studies of this thesis the role of miRNA regulation was investigated in NOD mice. In Study I, we investigated the role of miRNA-34 gene family (miR-34a/b/c), miR-29 gene family (miR-29a/b/c), miR-125b, miR-155 and miR-203 in the regulation of p53-dependent DNA damage response in thymocytes in response to  $\gamma$ -irradiation. We show that NOD lymphocytes are apoptosis resistant in response to  $\gamma$ -irradiation compared to wild-type B6 mice. There is differential expression of miR-34a before  $\gamma$ -irradiation and miR-34b/c before and after  $\gamma$ -irradiation in NOD thymocytes compared to B6 thymocytes. Additionally, we show that miR-125b was differentially expressed before and after  $\gamma$ -irradiation as well as miR-155 after  $\gamma$ irradiation in NOD thymocytes compared to B6 mice. Finally, we also show that p53 is not properly up-regulated in NOD thymocytes in response to  $\gamma$ -irradiation. We believe that this might be mediated by the miRNAs differentially expressed between the NOD and B6 thymocytes during the apoptosis response to  $\gamma$ -irradiation. In conclusion, altered miRNA network affecting the level of p53 expression in NOD thymocytes during cell-cycle checkpoint and apoptosis during development may influence the establishment of central tolerance and predispose the NOD mouse to T1D development.

In Study II, the overall role of canonical miRNAs in the NOD mouse was investigated by deletion of the mature miRNAs using the Cre-Lox system at the DN3 stage of early thymocyte development. The effect of lacking mature canonical miRNAs resulted in reduced overall cellularity of secondary lymphoid organs spleen, MLN and pLN. The immunophenotyping of the NOD.Lck-Cre *Dicer1*<sup> $\Delta/\Delta$ </sup> mice show a significant decrease of  $\alpha\beta$  CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell populations in the thymus, spleen and MLN. Additionally, we show a slight non-statistically decrease in nTregs in thymus, spleen,

MLN and pLN. There was also an increased ratio of memory T cells in the spleen and MLN of the NOD.Lck-Cre *Dicer1*<sup> $\Delta/\Delta$ </sup> mice. Although there was lower leukocyte infiltration in the pancreatic islets, we could not show any difference in the diabetes incidence between the female NOD.Lck-Cre *Dicer1*<sup> $\Delta/\Delta$ </sup> mice and control littermates. However, there was an increase in diabetes incidence of male. In short, canonical miRNAs are important for generation of  $\alpha\beta$  CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup>T cells as well as nTregs in the primary and secondary organs of the NOD.Lck-Cre *Dicer1*<sup> $\Delta/\Delta$ </sup> mice. It is probable that canonical miRNAs are also important for the function of the different T cell populations, which will be investigated in future studies.

In Study III, we studied the effect of derangement of maternal intestinal microbiota on the offspring, particularly for the development of T1D. The maternal intestinal microbiota was modulated by treating the pregnant NOD mice with antibiotics and we found decreased diversity and a persistent modulation of the intestinal microbial pattern in the offspring. We also demonstrated immunological alterations including CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell frequencies in the MLN and CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> as well as CD4<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>-</sup> T cell frequencies and in Peyer's patches. These changes may have influenced the increase in the diabetes incidence of offspring to treated mothers at 20 weeks of age although the effect was not persistent. In conclusion, our results indicate the importance of the maternal gut microbiota for the immunological tolerance in the offspring.

In Study IV, we wanted to clarify the relationship between the global intestinal microbiota and the immune system in the DSS induced UC mouse model. We showed changes in the overall colonic intestinal microbiota pattern after DSS treatment. In addition, we a showed a significant decrease in *Lactobacillus* and significant increase in *Akkersmansia* and *Desulfovibrio* as well as higher incidence of *Enterobacteriaceae*. We

demonstrated immunological alterations of different populations of T cells, DCs and NK cells after UC induction. These include significant increase of T cells, particularly CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the MLN of DSS treated mice. Additionally, we showed significant increase in Tregs co-expressing CTLA-4 in the spleen, Peyer's patches and MLN in DSS group. Finally, we demonstrated significant increase in monocytes and DCs co-expressing TLR-4 in the MLN. In conclusion, our results indicate that the intestinal microbiota actively interacts with the immune system in UC.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Jag skulle vilja börja med att tacka min handledare Corrado M. Cilio, för den tiden jag har fått vara doktorand i din grupp och dela din entusiasm till forskning och samarbete! Tack för att du har gett mig friheten att utvecklas som doktorand och att lära mig forska under din inspirerande och pedagogiska vägledning men också att växa som person. Jag kommer speciellt ihåg att du sa någon gång att det visserligen är den tuffaste skolan som man går igenom som doktorand men att man hela livet kommer att ha nytta av de kunskaper man fick just under de här åren. Och jag kan inte låta bli att undra om det kanske stämmer, har jag klarat av det här så kan jag klara av allt som kommer i min väg i framtiden!

Jag skulle också vilja tacka min bihandledare Lena Eliasson för alla dina goda råd på vägen som styrt mig på rätt kurs och för möjligheten att med jämna mellanrum spendera tid i ditt lab och lära mig ett och annat samt lära känna dess fantastiska medlemmar.

Ett stort tack, Siv Ahrné och Göran Molin för flera spännande samarbeten som utökade mitt kunskapsfält och tände ett nytt intresse hos mig då ni fick mig att se att det faktiskt finns fler tarmbakterier än celler i kroppen samt betydelsen av god tarmflora för vår hälsa!

Jättestort tack till min fantastiska labgrupp som ställt upp för mig i stort och smått genom åren och lärt mig så mycket; Tina, Jeanette, Qefsere, Per-Anders, Miljana, Luis och Kostrat. Utan er praktiska hjälp och moraliska stöd hade det aldrig gått! Tack alla före detta medlemmar som har kommit och gått i Corrados grupp, särskilt Mārtiņš som lärde mig jobba med djuren samt Caroline som introducerade mig till labarbetet i mina första projekt men framför allt lärde mig så mycket om människor. Susanne och

Christina som var med oss ett tag, tack för all er praktiska hjälp för den betydde mycket för mig under den tiden. Wiaam, tack för alla våra intressanta samtal då vi båda jobbade under sena kvällar. Andrea, Ilaria, Lily and Ileana - we have not forgotten you and your contribution to our lab, especially since you brought some sunshine to us from much warmer places in the world!

Jag skulle också särskilt vilja tacka Britt-Marie, din hjälp har varit helt ovärderlig för mig! Anna E. och Jonathan, ett väldigt stort tack för att ni har hjälpt mig på momangen när jag har kommit och frågat och för att ni så många gånger har delat er kunskap och erfarenheter med mig.

Ett jättestort tack till alla er som hjälpt mig under otaliga timmar att plocka öar (ni vet vem ni är!) och för alla spännande samtal framför mikroskopet.

Åsa, jag har räknat på det här och kommit fram till att jag har delat flest arbetstimmar med dig än någon annan under hela min tid som doktorand! Vi har slitit som djur med mössen och frenetiskt preppat celler och färgat och FACSat...Tack för den tiden! Dessutom kommer jag med glädje ihåg våra samtal om nyttiga gryn och superbär vilket faktiskt har bidragit till att jag har börjat äta nyttigare, intalar jag mig själv i alla fall.

Kugan, even if you technically have never been a student in our lab it feels like I have been there to see you from the beginning when you worked with me and Åsa during your Master's - and then to follow you as you now work completely independent as a PhD student - it somehow makes me a little bit proud...

My friends; Sayeh, Regina, Liliya, Alex, Thomas, Yuedan, Eliana, Alexander- you all know how much you mean to me! :) Through the years we have had incredibly fun together and we dwelled together in our difficult moments and without you my world would be so extremely dull.

Naila Svitacheva, du har en speciell plats i mitt hjärta eftersom jag tror att du alltid på något sätt varit min pedagogiska mentor genom livet. Jag tror att bestämde mig för att bli forskare när jag gick på din disputation när jag var runt 15 år gammal och tyckte att det var det coolaste jag sett. Vi utelämnar hur nördigt det är att tycka att en disputation är det coolaste man sett när man är 15...

Mamma och pappa, ni har genom hela min uppväxt ständigt påpekat vikten av utbildning samt uppmanat mig att bli en kritiskt tänkande individ. Mamma, du lärt mig så mycket och alltid stöttat och uppmuntrat mig i allt! Pappa, du har en genuin nyfikenhet på världen och är hälften av tiden mer insatt i nya framsteg inom forskning och teknik än vad jag är. Tror att jag har fått det från dig att vilja veta exakt *hur* allting fungerar, önskar bara jag var lika bra som du på problemlösning!

Bengt, du gör mig till en bättre människa och jag kan inte tänka mig mitt liv utan din outtömliga kärlek och ditt ständiga stöd, varje dag...

### REFERENCES

- Aagaard K, Ma J, Antony KM, Ganu R, Petrosino J, Versalovic J. 2014. The placenta harbors a unique microbiome. *Science translational medicine* **6**: 237ra265.
- Alam C, Bittoun E, Bhagwat D, Valkonen S, Saari A, Jaakkola U, Eerola E, Huovinen P, Hanninen A. 2011. Effects of a germ-free environment on gut immune regulation and diabetes progression in non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice. *Diabetologia* 54: 1398-1406.
- Alex P, Zachos NC, Nguyen T, Gonzales L, Chen TE, Conklin LS, Centola M, Li X. 2009. Distinct cytokine patterns identified from multiplex profiles of murine DSS and TNBS-induced colitis. *Inflammatory bowel diseases* 15: 341-352.
- Aljabri KS, Bokhari SA, Khan MJ. 2010. Glycemic changes after vitamin D supplementation in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus and vitamin D deficiency. *Annals of Saudi medicine* **30**: 454-458.
- Almanza G, Fernandez A, Volinia S, Cortez-Gonzalez X, Croce CM, Zanetti M. 2010. Selected microRNAs define cell fate determination of murine central memory CD8 T cells. *PLoS One 2010 Jun 22;5(6):e11243 doi:* 101371/journalpone0011243.
- Andrade SE, Gurwitz JH, Davis RL, Chan KA, Finkelstein JA, Fortman K, McPhillips H, Raebel MA, Roblin D, Smith DH et al. 2004. Prescription drug use in pregnancy. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology* 191: 398-407.
- Asseman C, Mauze S, Leach MW, Coffman RL, Powrie F. 1999. An essential role for interleukin 10 in the function of regulatory T cells that inhibit intestinal inflammation. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **190**: 995-1004.
- Atkinson MA, Eisenbarth GS, Michels AW. 2014. Type 1 diabetes. *Lancet* **383**: 69-82.
- Ayabe T, Satchell DP, Wilson CL, Parks WC, Selsted ME, Ouellette AJ. 2000. Secretion of microbicidal alpha-defensins by intestinal Paneth cells in response to bacteria. *Nature immunology* **1**: 113-118.
- Backhed F, Ley RE, Sonnenburg JL, Peterson DA, Gordon JI. 2005. Host-bacterial mutualism in the human intestine. *Science (New York, NY)* **307**: 1915-1920.
- Banting FG, Best CH, Collip JB, Campbell WR, Fletcher AA. 1922. Pancreatic Extracts in the Treatment of Diabetes Mellitus. *Canadian Medical Association journal* 12: 141-146.
- Bartel DP. 2009. MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. *Cell 2009* Jan 23;136(2):215-33 doi: 101016/jcell200901002.
- Barthson J, Germano CM, Moore F, Maida A, Drucker DJ, Marchetti P, Gysemans C, Mathieu C, Nunez G, Jurisicova A et al. 2011. Cytokines tumor necrosis

factor-alpha and interferon-gamma induce pancreatic beta-cell apoptosis through STAT1-mediated Bim protein activation. *J Biol Chem* **286**: 39632-39643.

- Belkaid Y, Tarbell K. 2009. Regulatory T cells in the control of host-microorganism interactions (\*). *Annu Rev Immunol* **27**: 551-589.
- Ben-Sasson SZ, Hu-Li J, Quiel J, Cauchetaux S, Ratner M, Shapira I, Dinarello CA, Paul WE. 2009. IL-1 acts directly on CD4 T cells to enhance their antigendriven expansion and differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106: 7119-7124.
- Bergholdt R, Heding P, Nielsen K, Nolsoe R, Sparre T, Storling J, Nerup J, Pociot F, Mandrup-Poulsen T. 2004. Type 1 database mellitus: an inflammatory disease of the islet. *Adv Exp Med Biol* **552**: 129-153.
- Bergman ML, Cilio CM, Penha-Goncalves C, Lamhamedi-Cherradi SE, Lofgren A, Colucci F, Lejon K, Garchon HJ, Holmberg D. 2001. CTLA-4-/- mice display T cell-apoptosis resistance resembling that ascribed to autoimmuneprone non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice. *Journal of autoimmunity* 16: 105-113.
- Berzins SP, Godfrey DI, Miller JF, Boyd RL. 1999. A central role for thymic emigrants in peripheral T cell homeostasis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **96**: 9787-9791.
- Bhat-Nakshatri P, Wang G, Collins NR, Thomson MJ, Geistlinger TR, Carroll JS, Brown M, Hammond S, Srour EF, Liu Y et al. 2009. Estradiol-regulated microRNAs control estradiol response in breast cancer cells. *Nucleic acids research* **37**: 4850-4861.
- Bommer GT, Gerin I, Feng Y, Kaczorowski AJ, Kuick R, Love RE, Zhai Y, Giordano TJ, Qin ZS, Moore BB et al. 2007. p53-mediated activation of miRNA34 candidate tumor-suppressor genes. *Current biology : CB* 17: 1298-1307.
- Bosma MJ, Carroll AM. 1991. The SCID mouse mutant: definition, characterization, and potential uses. *Annu Rev Immunol* **9**: 323-350.
- Bottazzo GF, Florin-Christensen A, Doniach D. 1974. Islet-cell antibodies in diabetes mellitus with autoimmune polyendocrine deficiencies. *Lancet* **2**: 1279-1283.
- Bouillet P, Purton JF, Godfrey DI, Zhang LC, Coultas L, Puthalakath H, Pellegrini M, Cory S, Adams JM, Strasser A. 2002. BH3-only Bcl-2 family member Bim is required for apoptosis of autoreactive thymocytes. *Nature* 415: 922-926.
- Brugman S, Klatter FA, Visser JT, Wildeboer-Veloo AC, Harmsen HJ, Rozing J, Bos NA. 2006. Antibiotic treatment partially protects against type 1 diabetes in the Bio-Breeding diabetes-prone rat. Is the gut flora involved in the development of type 1 diabetes? *Diabetologia* 49: 2105-2108.

- Brunner MC, Chambers CA, Chan FK, Hanke J, Winoto A, Allison JP. 1999. CTLA-4-Mediated inhibition of early events of T cell proliferation. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950)* 162: 5813-5820.
- Calderon B, Suri A, Pan XO, Mills JC, Unanue ER. 2008. IFN-gamma-dependent regulatory circuits in immune inflammation highlighted in diabetes. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950)* **181**: 6964-6974.
- Cantor J, Haskins K. 2007. Recruitment and activation of macrophages by pathogenic CD4 T cells in type 1 diabetes: evidence for involvement of CCR8 and CCL1. *J Immunol* **179**: 5760-5767.
- Cario E. 2005. Bacterial interactions with cells of the intestinal mucosa: Toll-like receptors and NOD2. *Gut* **54**: 1182-1193.
- Carthew RW, Sontheimer EJ. 2009. Origins and Mechanisms of miRNAs and siRNAs. *Cell* **136**: 642-655.
- Cederbom L, Hall H, Ivars F. 2000. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells down-regulate co-stimulatory molecules on antigen-presenting cells. *European journal of immunology* **30**: 1538-1543.
- Cesana M, Cacchiarelli D, Legnini I, Santini T, Sthandier O, Chinappi M, Tramontano A, Bozzoni I. 2011. A long noncoding RNA controls muscle differentiation by functioning as a competing endogenous RNA. *Cell* **147**: 358-369.
- Chakir H, Lefebvre DE, Wang H, Caraher E, Scott FW. 2005. Wheat proteininduced proinflammatory T helper 1 bias in mesenteric lymph nodes of young diabetes-prone rats. *Diabetologia* **48**: 1576-1584.
- Chan BT, Hohmann E, Barshak MB, Pukkila-Worley R. 2013. Treatment of listeriosis in first trimester of pregnancy. *Emerging infectious diseases* **19**: 839-841.
- Chaparro RJ, Konigshofer Y, Beilhack GF, Shizuru JA, McDevitt HO, Chien YH. 2006. Nonobese diabetic mice express aspects of both type 1 and type 2 diabetes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2006 Aug 15;103(33):12475-80 Epub* 2006 Aug 8.
- Cheloufi S, Dos Santos CO, Chong MM, Hannon GJ. 2010. A dicer-independent miRNA biogenesis pathway that requires Ago catalysis. *Nature* **465**: 584-589.
- Chen L, Flies DB. 2013. Molecular mechanisms of T cell co-stimulation and coinhibition. *Nat Rev Immunol* **13**: 227-242.
- Ciaudo C, Servant N, Cognat V, Sarazin A, Kieffer E, Viville S, Colot V, Barillot E, Heard E, Voinnet O. 2009. Highly dynamic and sex-specific expression of microRNAs during early ES cell differentiation. *PLoS genetics* **5**: e1000620.
- Cifuentes D, Xue H, Taylor DW, Patnode H, Mishima Y, Cheloufi S, Ma E, Mane S, Hannon GJ, Lawson ND et al. 2010. A novel miRNA processing pathway

independent of Dicer requires Argonaute2 catalytic activity. *Science (New York, NY)* **328**: 1694-1698.

- Cimmino A, Calin GA, Fabbri M, Iorio MV, Ferracin M, Shimizu M, Wojcik SE, Aqeilan RI, Zupo S, Dono M et al. 2005. miR-15 and miR-16 induce apoptosis by targeting BCL2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **102**: 13944-13949.
- Cobb BS, Hertweck A, Smith J, O'Connor E, Graf D, Cook T, Smale ST, Sakaguchi S, Livesey FJ, Fisher AG et al. 2006. A role for Dicer in immune regulation. J Exp Med 2006 Oct 30;203(11):2519-27 Epub 2006 Oct 23.
- Cobb BS, Nesterova TB, Thompson E, Hertweck A, O'Connor E, Godwin J, Wilson CB, Brockdorff N, Fisher AG, Smale ST et al. 2005. T cell lineage choice and differentiation in the absence of the RNase III enzyme Dicer. *J Exp Med* 2005 May 2;201(9):1367-73.
- Colucci F, Cilio CM, Lejon K, Goncalves CP, Bergman ML, Holmberg D. 1996. Programmed cell death in the pathogenesis of murine IDDM: resistance to apoptosis induced in lymphocytes by cyclophosphamide. *Journal of autoimmunity* **9**: 271-276.
- Concepcion CP, Han YC, Mu P, Bonetti C, Yao E, D'Andrea A, Vidigal JA, Maughan WP, Ogrodowski P, Ventura A. 2012. Intact p53-dependent responses in miR-34-deficient mice. *PLoS genetics* **8**: e1002797.
- Constant SL, Bottomly K. 1997. Induction of Th1 and Th2 CD4+ T cell responses: the alternative approaches. *Annu Rev Immunol* **15**: 297-322.
- Costello PS, Cleverley SC, Galandrini R, Henning SW, Cantrell DA. 2000. The GTPase rho controls a p53-dependent survival checkpoint during thymopoiesis. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **192**: 77-85.
- Cullen BR. 2004. Transcription and processing of human microRNA precursors. *Mol Cell 2004 Dec 22;16(6):861-5*.
- Curotto de Lafaille MA, Lafaille JJ. 2009. Natural and adaptive foxp3+ regulatory T cells: more of the same or a division of labor? *Immunity* **30**: 626-635.
- David-Fung ES, Yui MA, Morales M, Wang H, Taghon T, Diamond RA, Rothenberg EV. 2006. Progression of regulatory gene expression states in fetal and adult pro-T-cell development. *Immunological reviews* 209: 212-236.
- de Goffau MC, Luopajarvi K, Knip M, Ilonen J, Ruohtula T, Harkonen T, Orivuori L, Hakala S, Welling GW, Harmsen HJ et al. 2013. Fecal microbiota composition differs between children with beta-cell autoimmunity and those without. *Diabetes* **62**: 1238-1244.
- Devendra D, Liu E, Eisenbarth GS. 2004. Type 1 diabetes: recent developments. *BMJ (Clinical research ed)* **328**: 750-754.

- Donehower LA, Harvey M, Slagle BL, McArthur MJ, Montgomery CA, Jr., Butel JS, Bradley A. 1992. Mice deficient for p53 are developmentally normal but susceptible to spontaneous tumours. *Nature* **356**: 215-221.
- Dudley DD, Chaudhuri J, Bassing CH, Alt FW. 2005. Mechanism and control of V(D)J recombination versus class switch recombination: similarities and differences. *Advances in immunology* **86**: 43-112.
- Ebert PJ, Jiang S, Xie J, Li QJ, Davis MM. 2009. An endogenous positively selecting peptide enhances mature T cell responses and becomes an autoantigen in the absence of microRNA miR-181a. *Nature immunology* **10**: 1162-1169.
- Eckburg PB, Bik EM, Bernstein CN, Purdom E, Dethlefsen L, Sargent M, Gill SR, Nelson KE, Relman DA. 2005. Diversity of the human intestinal microbial flora. *Science (New York, NY)* **308**: 1635-1638.
- Eiring AM, Harb JG, Neviani P, Garton C, Oaks JJ, Spizzo R, Liu S, Schwind S, Santhanam R, Hickey CJ et al. 2010. miR-328 functions as an RNA decoy to modulate hnRNP E2 regulation of mRNA translation in leukemic blasts. *Cell* **140**: 652-665.
- Eizirik DL, Mandrup-Poulsen T. 2001. A choice of death--the signal-transduction of immune-mediated beta-cell apoptosis. *Diabetologia* **44**: 2115-2133.
- El-Sheikh A, Suarez-Pinzon WL, Power RF, Rabinovitch A. 1999. Both CD4(+)and CD8(+)T cells are required for IFN-gamma gene expression in pancreatic islets and autoimmune diabetes development in biobreeding rats. *Journal of autoimmunity* **12**: 109-119.
- El Ouaamari A, Baroukh N, Martens GA, Lebrun P, Pipeleers D, van Obberghen E. 2008. miR-375 targets 3'-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase-1 and regulates glucose-induced biological responses in pancreatic beta-cells. *Diabetes 2008 Oct;57(10):2708-17 doi: 102337/db07-1614 Epub 2008 Jun 30*.
- Esguerra JL, Bolmeson C, Cilio CM, Eliasson L. 2011. Differential glucoseregulation of microRNAs in pancreatic islets of non-obese type 2 diabetes model Goto-Kakizaki rat. *PLoS One* **6**: e18613.
- Fabia R, Ar'Rajab A, Johansson ML, Andersson R, Willen R, Jeppsson B, Molin G, Bengmark S. 1993. Impairment of bacterial flora in human ulcerative colitis and experimental colitis in the rat. *Digestion* 54: 248-255.
- Fagarasan S, Honjo T. 2003. Intestinal IgA synthesis: regulation of front-line body defences. *Nat Rev Immunol* **3**: 63-72.
- Fallarino F, Grohmann U, Hwang KW, Orabona C, Vacca C, Bianchi R, Belladonna ML, Fioretti MC, Alegre ML, Puccetti P. 2003. Modulation of tryptophan catabolism by regulatory T cells. *Nature immunology* 4: 1206-1212.
- Fanaro S, Chierici R, Guerrini P, Vigi V. 2003. Intestinal microflora in early infancy: composition and development. *Acta Paediatr Suppl* **91**: 48-55.

- Favier CF, Vaughan EE, De Vos WM, Akkermans AD. 2002. Molecular monitoring of succession of bacterial communities in human neonates. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 68: 219-226.
- Fedeli M, Napolitano A, Wong MP, Marcais A, de Lalla C, Colucci F, Merkenschlager M, Dellabona P, Casorati G. 2009. Dicer-dependent microRNA pathway controls invariant NKT cell development. J Immunol 2009 Aug 15;183(4):2506-12 doi: 104049/jimmunol0901361 Epub 2009 Jul 22.
- Ferreira RC, Guo H, Coulson RM, Smyth DJ, Pekalski ML, Burren OS, Cutler AJ, Doecke JD, Flint S, McKinney EF et al. 2014. A type I interferon transcriptional signature precedes autoimmunity in children genetically at risk for type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 63: 2538-2550.
- Fiocchi C. 1997. The immune system in inflammatory bowel disease. *Acta gastro-enterologica Belgica* **60**: 156-162.
- Fire A, Xu S, Montgomery MK, Kostas SA, Driver SE, Mello CC. 1998. Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature 1998 Feb 19;391(6669):806-11*.
- Flynt AS, Greimann JC, Chung WJ, Lima CD, Lai EC. 2010. MicroRNA biogenesis via splicing and exosome-mediated trimming in Drosophila. *Molecular cell* 38: 900-907.
- Friedman RC, Farh KK, Burge CB, Bartel DP. 2009. Most mammalian mRNAs are conserved targets of microRNAs. *Genome Res 2009 Jan;19(1):92-105 doi:* 101101/gr082701108 Epub 2008 Oct 27.
- Funauchi M, Ikoma S, Enomoto H, Horiuchi A. 1998. Decreased Th1-like and increased Th2-like cells in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Scandinavian journal of rheumatology* 27: 219-224.
- Garcia-Lafuente A, Antolin M, Guarner F, Crespo E, Salas A, Forcada P, Laguarda M, Gavalda J, Baena JA, Vilaseca J et al. 1997. Incrimination of anaerobic bacteria in the induction of experimental colitis. *The American journal of physiology* 272: G10-15.
- Garcia I, Murga M, Vicario A, Field SJ, Zubiaga AM. 2000. A role for E2F1 in the induction of apoptosis during thymic negative selection. *Cell growth & differentiation : the molecular biology journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* 11: 91-98.
- Gattinoni L, Klebanoff CA, Restifo NP. 2012. Paths to stemness: building the ultimate antitumour T cell. *Nature reviews Cancer* **12**: 671-684.
- Georas SN, Guo J, De Fanis U, Casolaro V. 2005. T-helper cell type-2 regulation in allergic disease. *The European respiratory journal* **26**: 1119-1137.
- Gerondakis S, Fulford TS, Messina NL, Grumont RJ. 2014. NF-kappaB control of T cell development. *Nature immunology* **15**: 15-25.
- 92

- Gibson DL, Ma C, Rosenberger CM, Bergstrom KS, Valdez Y, Huang JT, Khan MA, Vallance BA. 2008. Toll-like receptor 2 plays a critical role in maintaining mucosal integrity during Citrobacter rodentium-induced colitis. *Cellular microbiology* 10: 388-403.
- Giongo A, Gano KA, Crabb DB, Mukherjee N, Novelo LL, Casella G, Drew JC, Ilonen J, Knip M, Hyoty H et al. 2011. Toward defining the autoimmune microbiome for type 1 diabetes. *The ISME journal* **5**: 82-91.
- Grigoryev YA, Kurian SM, Hart T, Nakorchevsky AA, Chen C, Campbell D, Head SR, Yates JR, 3rd, Salomon DR. 2011. MicroRNA regulation of molecular networks mapped by global microRNA, mRNA, and protein expression in activated T lymphocytes. J Immunol 2011 Sep 1;187(5):2233-43 doi: 104049/jimmunol1101233 Epub 2011 Jul 25.
- Group DP. 2006. Incidence and trends of childhood Type 1 diabetes worldwide 1990-1999. *Diabetic medicine : a journal of the British Diabetic Association* **23**: 857-866.
- Guermonprez P, Valladeau J, Zitvogel L, Thery C, Amigorena S. 2002. Antigen presentation and T cell stimulation by dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* **20**: 621-667.
- Gueta K, Molotski N, Gerchikov N, Mor E, Savion S, Fein A, Toder V, Shomron N, Torchinsky A. 2010. Teratogen-induced alterations in microRNA-34, microRNA-125b and microRNA-155 expression: correlation with embryonic p53 genotype and limb phenotype. *BMC developmental biology* 10: 20.
- Guidos CJ, Williams CJ, Grandal I, Knowles G, Huang MT, Danska JS. 1996. V(D)J recombination activates a p53-dependent DNA damage checkpoint in scid lymphocyte precursors. *Genes & development* **10**: 2038-2054.
- Gurzov EN, Ortis F, Cunha DA, Gosset G, Li M, Cardozo AK, Eizirik DL. 2009. Signaling by IL-1beta+IFN-gamma and ER stress converge on DP5/Hrk activation: a novel mechanism for pancreatic beta-cell apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ* **16**: 1539-1550.
- Hagman Z, Haflidadottir BS, Ceder JA, Larne O, Bjartell A, Lilja H, Edsjo A, Ceder Y. 2013. miR-205 negatively regulates the androgen receptor and is associated with adverse outcome of prostate cancer patients. *British journal of cancer* 108: 1668-1676.
- Haines BB, Ryu CJ, Chang S, Protopopov A, Luch A, Kang YH, Draganov DD,
  Fragoso MF, Paik SG, Hong HJ et al. 2006. Block of T cell development in
  P53-deficient mice accelerates development of lymphomas with characteristic
  RAG-dependent cytogenetic alterations. *Cancer cell* 9: 109-120.
- Haks MC, Krimpenfort P, van den Brakel JH, Kruisbeek AM. 1999. Pre-TCR signaling and inactivation of p53 induces crucial cell survival pathways in pre-T cells. *Immunity* **11**: 91-101.

- Hall LJ, Murphy CT, Quinlan A, Hurley G, Shanahan F, Nally K, Melgar S. 2013. Natural killer cells protect mice from DSS-induced colitis by regulating neutrophil function via the NKG2A receptor. *Mucosal immunology* 6: 1016-1026.
- Hamilton MJ, Sinnamon MJ, Lyng GD, Glickman JN, Wang X, Xing W, Krilis SA, Blumberg RS, Adachi R, Lee DM et al. 2011. Essential role for mast cell tryptase in acute experimental colitis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108: 290-295.
- Han G, Wang R, Chen G, Wang J, Xu R, Wang L, Feng J, Li X, Guo R, Fu L et al. 2010. Interleukin-17-producing gammadelta+ T cells protect NOD mice from type 1 diabetes through a mechanism involving transforming growth factor-beta. *Immunology* **129**: 197-206.
- Han J, Lee Y, Yeom KH, Kim YK, Jin H, Kim VN. 2004. The Drosha-DGCR8 complex in primary microRNA processing. *Genes Dev 2004 Dec* 15;18(24):3016-27 Epub 2004 Dec 1.
- Hansson GC, Johansson ME. 2010. The inner of the two Muc2 mucin-dependent mucus layers in colon is devoid of bacteria. *Gut microbes* 1: 51-54.
- Hart AL, Al-Hassi HO, Rigby RJ, Bell SJ, Emmanuel AV, Knight SC, Kamm MA, Stagg AJ. 2005. Characteristics of intestinal dendritic cells in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Gastroenterology* **129**: 50-65.
- He L, Hannon GJ. 2004. MicroRNAs: small RNAs with a big role in gene regulation. *Nat Rev Genet 2004 Jul;5(7):522-31*.
- He L, He X, Lim LP, de Stanchina E, Xuan Z, Liang Y, Xue W, Zender L, Magnus J, Ridzon D et al. 2007. A microRNA component of the p53 tumour suppressor network. *Nature* **447**: 1130-1134.
- Heller F, Florian P, Bojarski C, Richter J, Christ M, Hillenbrand B, Mankertz J, Gitter AH, Burgel N, Fromm M et al. 2005. Interleukin-13 is the key effector Th2 cytokine in ulcerative colitis that affects epithelial tight junctions, apoptosis, and cell restitution. *Gastroenterology* **129**: 550-564.
- Henao-Mejia J, Williams A, Goff LA, Staron M, Licona-Limon P, Kaech SM, Nakayama M, Rinn JL, Flavell RA. 2013. The microRNA miR-181 is a critical cellular metabolic rheostat essential for NKT cell ontogenesis and lymphocyte development and homeostasis. *Immunity* 38: 984-997.
- Hernandez-Hoyos G, Sohn SJ, Rothenberg EV, Alberola-Ila J. 2000. Lck activity controls CD4/CD8 T cell lineage commitment. *Immunity* **12**: 313-322.
- Hirota K, Turner JE, Villa M, Duarte JH, Demengeot J, Steinmetz OM, Stockinger B. 2013. Plasticity of Th17 cells in Peyer's patches is responsible for the induction of T cell-dependent IgA responses. *Nature immunology* 14: 372-379.

- Hoffman ES, Passoni L, Crompton T, Leu TM, Schatz DG, Koff A, Owen MJ, Hayday AC. 1996. Productive T-cell receptor beta-chain gene rearrangement: coincident regulation of cell cycle and clonality during development in vivo. *Genes & development* **10**: 948-962.
- Hold GL, Pryde SE, Russell VJ, Furrie E, Flint HJ. 2002. Assessment of microbial diversity in human colonic samples by 16S rDNA sequence analysis. in *FEMS microbiology ecology*, pp. 33-39.
- Holtta V, Klemetti P, Salo HM, Koivusalo A, Pakarinen M, Westerholm-Ormio M, Kolho KL, Vaarala O. 2013. Interleukin-17 immunity in pediatric Crohn disease and ulcerative colitis. *Journal of pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition* 57: 287-292.
- Honda K, Takeda K. 2009. Regulatory mechanisms of immune responses to intestinal bacteria. *Mucosal immunology* **2**: 187-196.
- Hooper LV, Midtvedt T, Gordon JI. 2002. How host-microbial interactions shape the nutrient environment of the mammalian intestine. *Annu Rev Nutr* **22**: 283-307.
- Ilnytskyy Y, Zemp FJ, Koturbash I, Kovalchuk O. 2008. Altered microRNA expression patterns in irradiated hematopoietic tissues suggest a sex-specific protective mechanism. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 377: 41-45.
- In't Veld P. 2014. Insulitis in human type 1 diabetes: a comparison between patients and animal models. *Seminars in immunopathology*.
- Ivanov, II, Atarashi K, Manel N, Brodie EL, Shima T, Karaoz U, Wei D, Goldfarb KC, Santee CA, Lynch SV et al. 2009. Induction of intestinal Th17 cells by segmented filamentous bacteria. *Cell* 139: 485-498.
- Izcue A, Coombes JL, Powrie F. 2009. Regulatory lymphocytes and intestinal inflammation. *Annu Rev Immunol* **27**: 313-338.
- Izcue A, Hue S, Buonocore S, Arancibia-Carcamo CV, Ahern PP, Iwakura Y, Maloy KJ, Powrie F. 2008. Interleukin-23 restrains regulatory T cell activity to drive T cell-dependent colitis. *Immunity* **28**: 559-570.
- Janeway C, Travers P, Walport M, Shlomchik M. 2001. *Immunobiology*. Garland Publishing, New York.
- Jeker LT, Zhou X, Blelloch R, Bluestone JA. 2013. DGCR8-mediated production of canonical microRNAs is critical for regulatory T cell function and stability. *PLoS One 2013 May 31;8(5):e66282 doi: 101371/journalpone0066282 Print* 2013.
- Jeker LT, Zhou X, Gershberg K, de Kouchkovsky D, Morar MM, Stadthagen G, Lund AH, Bluestone JA. 2012. MicroRNA 10a marks regulatory T cells. *PLoS One* **7**: e36684.

- Jiang D, Lenardo MJ, Zuniga-Pflucker JC. 1996. p53 prevents maturation to the CD4+CD8+ stage of thymocyte differentiation in the absence of T cell receptor rearrangement. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **183**: 1923-1928.
- Kalis M, Bolmeson C, Esguerra JL, Gupta S, Edlund A, Tormo-Badia N, Speidel D, Holmberg D, Mayans S, Khoo NK et al. 2011. Beta-cell specific deletion of Dicer1 leads to defective insulin secretion and diabetes mellitus. *PLoS One* 2011;6(12):e29166 doi: 101371/journalpone0029166 Epub 2011 Dec 27.
- Kallionpaa H, Elo LL, Laajala E, Mykkanen J, Ricano-Ponce I, Vaarma M, Laajala TD, Hyoty H, Ilonen J, Veijola R et al. 2014. Innate Immune Activity Is Detected Prior to Seroconversion in Children With HLA-Conferred Type 1 Diabetes Susceptibility. *Diabetes* 63: 2402-2414.
- Kaminitz A, Askenasy N, Yolcu ES. 2013. Immunomodulation with regulatory T cells and Fas-ligand ameliorate established inflammatory colitis. *Gut* **62**: 1228-1230.
- Kane LP, Andres PG, Howland KC, Abbas AK, Weiss A. 2001. Akt provides the CD28 costimulatory signal for up-regulation of IL-2 and IFN-gamma but not TH2 cytokines. *Nature immunology* 2: 37-44.
- Kapp JA, Kapp LM, McKenna KC, Lake JP. 2004. gammadelta T-cell clones from intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes inhibit development of CTL responses ex vivo. *Immunology* 111: 155-164.
- Karlsson CL, Molin G, Cilio CM, Ahrne S. 2011. The pioneer gut microbiota in human neonates vaginally born at term-a pilot study. *Pediatr Res* 70: 282-286.
- Kaser A, Zeissig S, Blumberg RS. 2010. Inflammatory bowel disease. *Annu Rev Immunol* **28**: 573-621.
- Khraiwesh B, Arif MA, Seumel GI, Ossowski S, Weigel D, Reski R, Frank W. 2010. Transcriptional control of gene expression by microRNAs. *Cell* **140**: 111-122.
- Kim DH, Saetrom P, Snove O, Jr., Rossi JJ. 2008. MicroRNA-directed transcriptional gene silencing in mammalian cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **105**: 16230-16235.
- King C, Sarvetnick N. 2011. The incidence of type-1 diabetes in NOD mice is modulated by restricted flora not germ-free conditions. *PLoS One* **6**: e17049.
- King KM, Rubin G. 2003. A history of diabetes: from antiquity to discovering insulin. *British journal of nursing (Mark Allen Publishing)* **12**: 1091-1095.
- Kishimoto H, Sprent J. 2001. A defect in central tolerance in NOD mice. *Nature immunology* **2**: 1025-1031.
- Kishimoto H, Surh CD, Sprent J. 1998. A role for Fas in negative selection of thymocytes in vivo. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **187**: 1427-1438.

- Kitajima S, Takuma S, Morimoto M. 1999. Changes in colonic mucosal permeability in mouse colitis induced with dextran sulfate sodium. *Exp Anim* **48**: 137-143.
- Klenerman P, Hill A. 2005. T cells and viral persistence: lessons from diverse infections. *Nature immunology* **6**: 873-879.
- Kloosterman WP, Lagendijk AK, Ketting RF, Moulton JD, Plasterk RH. 2007. Targeted inhibition of miRNA maturation with morpholinos reveals a role for miR-375 in pancreatic islet development. *PLoS Biol 2007 Aug;5(8):e203*.
- Knip M, Akerblom HK, Becker D, Dosch HM, Dupre J, Fraser W, Howard N, Ilonen J, Krischer JP, Kordonouri O et al. 2014. Hydrolyzed infant formula and early beta-cell autoimmunity: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association* **311**: 2279-2287.
- Kockum I, Sanjeevi CB, Eastman S, Landin-Olsson M, Dahlquist G, Lernmark A. 1999. Complex interaction between HLA DR and DQ in conferring risk for childhood type 1 diabetes. *European journal of immunogenetics : official journal of the British Society for Histocompatibility and Immunogenetics* 26: 361-372.
- Kondo M, Weissman IL, Akashi K. 1997. Identification of clonogenic common lymphoid progenitors in mouse bone marrow. *Cell* **91**: 661-672.
- Korn T, Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK. 2009. IL-17 and Th17 Cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* **27**: 485-517.
- Kriegel MA, Sefik E, Hill JA, Wu HJ, Benoist C, Mathis D. 2011. Naturally transmitted segmented filamentous bacteria segregate with diabetes protection in nonobese diabetic mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108: 11548-11553.
- Kristjansson G, Venge P, Wanders A, Loof L, Hallgren R. 2004. Clinical and subclinical intestinal inflammation assessed by the mucosal patch technique: studies of mucosal neutrophil and eosinophil activation in inflammatory bowel diseases and irritable bowel syndrome. *Gut* **53**: 1806-1812.
- Kurrer MO, Pakala SV, Hanson HL, Katz JD. 1997. Beta cell apoptosis in T cellmediated autoimmune diabetes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **94**: 213-218.
- Lagos-Quintana M, Rauhut R, Lendeckel W, Tuschl T. 2001. Identification of novel genes coding for small expressed RNAs. *Science 2001 Oct 26;294(5543):853-8*.
- Lagos-Quintana M, Rauhut R, Meyer J, Borkhardt A, Tuschl T. 2003. New microRNAs from mouse and human. *RNA 2003 Feb;9(2):175-9*.
- Laitinen OH, Honkanen H, Pakkanen O, Oikarinen S, Hankaniemi MM, Huhtala H, Ruokoranta T, Lecouturier V, Andre P, Harju R et al. 2014. Coxsackievirus B1 is associated with induction of beta-cell autoimmunity that portends type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 63: 446-455.

- Lamhamedi-Cherradi SE, Luan JJ, Eloy L, Fluteau G, Bach JF, Garchon HJ. 1998. Resistance of T-cells to apoptosis in autoimmune diabetic (NOD) mice is increased early in life and is associated with dysregulated expression of Bcl-x. *Diabetologia* **41**: 178-184.
- Langevin SM, Stone RA, Bunker CH, Grandis JR, Sobol RW, Taioli E. 2010. MicroRNA-137 promoter methylation in oral rinses from patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck is associated with gender and body mass index. *Carcinogenesis* **31**: 864-870.
- Laroui H, Ingersoll SA, Liu HC, Baker MT, Ayyadurai S, Charania MA, Laroui F, Yan Y, Sitaraman SV, Merlin D. 2012. Dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) induces colitis in mice by forming nano-lipocomplexes with medium-chainlength fatty acids in the colon. *PLoS One* **7**: e32084.
- Larsen H, Muz B, Khong TL, Feldmann M, Paleolog EM. 2012. Differential effects of Th1 versus Th2 cytokines in combination with hypoxia on HIFs and angiogenesis in RA. *Arthritis research & therapy* **14**: R180.
- Lau NC, Lim LP, Weinstein EG, Bartel DP. 2001. An abundant class of tiny RNAs with probable regulatory roles in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Science 2001 Oct* 26;294(5543):858-62.
- Le J, Briggs GG, McKeown A, Bustillo G. 2004. Urinary tract infections during pregnancy. *The Annals of pharmacotherapy* **38**: 1692-1701.
- Le MT, Teh C, Shyh-Chang N, Xie H, Zhou B, Korzh V, Lodish HF, Lim B. 2009. MicroRNA-125b is a novel negative regulator of p53. *Genes & development* 23: 862-876.
- Lee HC, Chang SS, Choudhary S, Aalto AP, Maiti M, Bamford DH, Liu Y. 2009. qiRNA is a new type of small interfering RNA induced by DNA damage. *Nature* **459**: 274-277.
- Lee RC, Ambros V. 2001. An extensive class of small RNAs in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Science 2001 Oct 26;294(5543):862-4*.
- Lee RC, Feinbaum RL, Ambros V. 1993. The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. *Cell 1993 Dec 3;75(5):843-54*.
- Lee Y, Ahn C, Han J, Choi H, Kim J, Yim J, Lee J, Provost P, Radmark O, Kim S et al. 2003. The nuclear RNase III Drosha initiates microRNA processing. *Nature 2003 Sep 25;425(6956):415-9*.
- Leijon K, Hammarstrom B, Holmberg D. 1994. Non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice display enhanced immune responses and prolonged survival of lymphoid cells. *International immunology* 6: 339-345.
- Letterio JJ, Roberts AB. 1998. Regulation of immune responses by TGF-beta. *Annu Rev Immunol* 16: 137-161.

- Li QJ, Chau J, Ebert PJ, Sylvester G, Min H, Liu G, Braich R, Manoharan M, Soutschek J, Skare P et al. 2007. miR-181a is an intrinsic modulator of T cell sensitivity and selection. *Cell* **129**: 147-161.
- Lieber MR. 2010. The mechanism of double-strand DNA break repair by the nonhomologous DNA end-joining pathway. *Annual review of biochemistry* 79: 181-211.
- Lim WS, Macfarlane JT, Colthorpe CL. 2003. Treatment of community-acquired lower respiratory tract infections during pregnancy. *American journal of respiratory medicine : drugs, devices, and other interventions* **2**: 221-233.
- Lin WC, Desiderio S. 1995. V(D)J recombination and the cell cycle. *Immunology today* **16**: 279-289.
- Linsley PS, Schelter J, Burchard J, Kibukawa M, Martin MM, Bartz SR, Johnson JM, Cummins JM, Raymond CK, Dai H et al. 2007. Transcripts targeted by the microRNA-16 family cooperatively regulate cell cycle progression. *Molecular and cellular biology* 27: 2240-2252.
- Littorin B, Blom P, Scholin A, Arnqvist HJ, Blohme G, Bolinder J, Ekbom-Schnell A, Eriksson JW, Gudbjornsdottir S, Nystrom L et al. 2006. Lower levels of plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D among young adults at diagnosis of autoimmune type 1 diabetes compared with control subjects: results from the nationwide Diabetes Incidence Study in Sweden (DISS). *Diabetologia* **49**: 2847-2852.
- Locke JM, Lango Allen H, Harries LW. 2013. A rare SNP in pre-miR-34a is associated with increased levels of miR-34a in pancreatic beta cells. *Acta Diabetol 2013 Jul 5*.
- Locke NR, Stankovic S, Funda DP, Harrison LC. 2006. TCR gamma delta intraepithelial lymphocytes are required for self-tolerance. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950)* **176**: 6553-6559.
- Lonnrot M, Korpela K, Knip M, Ilonen J, Simell O, Korhonen S, Savola K, Muona P, Simell T, Koskela P et al. 2000. Enterovirus infection as a risk factor for beta-cell autoimmunity in a prospectively observed birth cohort: the Finnish Diabetes Prediction and Prevention Study. *Diabetes* 49: 1314-1318.
- Lorenz RG, Chaplin DD, McDonald KG, McDonough JS, Newberry RD. 2003. Isolated lymphoid follicle formation is inducible and dependent upon lymphotoxin-sufficient B lymphocytes, lymphotoxin beta receptor, and TNF receptor I function. J Immunol 170: 5475-5482.
- Lovis P, Gattesco S, Regazzi R. 2008. Regulation of the expression of components of the exocytotic machinery of insulin-secreting cells by microRNAs. *Biological chemistry* **389**: 305-312.
- Lu LF, Thai TH, Calado DP, Chaudhry A, Kubo M, Tanaka K, Loeb GB, Lee H, Yoshimura A, Rajewsky K et al. 2009. Foxp3-dependent microRNA155

confers competitive fitness to regulatory T cells by targeting SOCS1 protein. *Immunity* **30**: 80-91.

- Lund E, Guttinger S, Calado A, Dahlberg JE, Kutay U. 2004. Nuclear export of microRNA precursors. *Science 2004 Jan 2;303(5654):95-8 Epub 2003 Nov 20*.
- lvez J. 2014. Role of Th17 Cells in the Pathogenesis of Human IBD. ISRN Inflammation 2014: 14.
- Lynn FC, Skewes-Cox P, Kosaka Y, McManus MT, Harfe BD, German MS. 2007. MicroRNA expression is required for pancreatic islet cell genesis in the mouse. *Diabetes 2007 Dec;56(12):2938-45 Epub 2007 Sep 5*.
- Lytle JR, Yario TA, Steitz JA. 2007. Target mRNAs are repressed as efficiently by microRNA-binding sites in the 5' UTR as in the 3' UTR. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**: 9667-9672.
- Mackie RI, Sghir A, Gaskins HR. 1999. Developmental microbial ecology of the neonatal gastrointestinal tract. *Am J Clin Nutr* **69**: 1035S-1045S.
- Makino S, Kunimoto K, Muraoka Y, Mizushima Y, Katagiri K, Tochino Y. 1980. Breeding of a non-obese, diabetic strain of mice. *Jikken Dobutsu 1980 Jan;29(1):1-13.*
- Malaisse WJ, Olivares E, Laghmich A, Ladriere L, Sener A, Scott FW. 2000. Feeding a protective hydrolysed casein diet to young diabetic-prone BB rats affects oxidation of L[U-14C]glutamine in islets and Peyer's patches, reduces abnormally high mitotic activity in mesenteric lymph nodes, enhances islet insulin and tends to normalize NO production. *Int J Exp Diabetes Res* 1: 121-130.
- Maloy KJ, Salaun L, Cahill R, Dougan G, Saunders NJ, Powrie F. 2003. CD4+CD25+ T(R) cells suppress innate immune pathology through cytokine-dependent mechanisms. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **197**: 111-119.
- Mandelbaum AD, Melkman-Zehavi T, Oren R, Kredo-Russo S, Nir T, Dor Y, Hornstein E. 2012. Dysregulation of Dicer1 in beta cells impairs islet architecture and glucose metabolism. *Exp Diabetes Res 2012;2012:470302 Epub 2012 Sep 6*.
- Mandrup-Poulsen T. 2003. Apoptotic signal transduction pathways in diabetes. *Biochem Pharmacol* **66**: 1433-1440.
- Markle JG, Mortin-Toth S, Wong AS, Geng L, Hayday A, Danska JS. 2013. gammadelta T cells are essential effectors of type 1 diabetes in the nonobese diabetic mouse model. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950)* 190: 5392-5401.

- Martin R, Langa S, Reviriego C, Jiminez E, Marin ML, Xaus J, Fernandez L, Rodriguez JM. 2003. Human milk is a source of lactic acid bacteria for the infant gut. *J Pediatr* **143**: 754-758.
- Matsubara H, Takeuchi T, Nishikawa E, Yanagisawa K, Hayashita Y, Ebi H, Yamada H, Suzuki M, Nagino M, Nimura Y et al. 2007. Apoptosis induction by antisense oligonucleotides against miR-17-5p and miR-20a in lung cancers overexpressing miR-17-92. *Oncogene* **26**: 6099-6105.
- McKeever TM, Lewis SA, Smith C, Hubbard R. 2002. The importance of prenatal exposures on the development of allergic disease: a birth cohort study using the West Midlands General Practice Database. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* **166**: 827-832.
- Melgar S, Karlsson A, Michaelsson E. 2005. Acute colitis induced by dextran sulfate sodium progresses to chronicity in C57BL/6 but not in BALB/c mice: correlation between symptoms and inflammation. *American journal of physiology Gastrointestinal and liver physiology* **288**: G1328-1338.
- Melkman-Zehavi T, Oren R, Kredo-Russo S, Shapira T, Mandelbaum AD, Rivkin N, Nir T, Lennox KA, Behlke MA, Dor Y et al. 2011. miRNAs control insulin content in pancreatic beta-cells via downregulation of transcriptional repressors. *The EMBO journal* **30**: 835-845.
- Metsala J, Lundqvist A, Virta LJ, Kaila M, Gissler M, Virtanen SM. 2013. Mother's and offspring's use of antibiotics and infant allergy to cow's milk. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass)* **24**: 303-309.
- Moore KW, de Waal Malefyt R, Coffman RL, O'Garra A. 2001. Interleukin-10 and the interleukin-10 receptor. *Annu Rev Immunol* **19**: 683-765.
- Morita S, Hara A, Kojima I, Horii T, Kimura M, Kitamura T, Ochiya T, Nakanishi K, Matoba R, Matsubara K et al. 2009. Dicer is required for maintaining adult pancreas. *PLoS One 2009;4(1):e4212 doi: 101371/journalpone0004212 Epub 2009 Jan 16*.
- Mowat AM. 2003. Anatomical basis of tolerance and immunity to intestinal antigens. *Nat Rev Immunol* **3**: 331-341.
- Munn DH, Sharma MD, Mellor AL. 2004. Ligation of B7-1/B7-2 by human CD4+ T cells triggers indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activity in dendritic cells. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950)* **172**: 4100-4110.
- Murphy KM, Ouyang W, Farrar JD, Yang J, Ranganath S, Asnagli H, Afkarian M, Murphy TL. 2000. Signaling and transcription in T helper development. *Annu Rev Immunol* **18**: 451-494.
- Murri M, Leiva I, Gomez-Zumaquero JM, Tinahones FJ, Cardona F, Soriguer F, Queipo-Ortuno MI. 2013. Gut microbiota in children with type 1 diabetes differs from that in healthy children: a case-control study. *BMC Med* 11: 1741-7015.

Mylonaki M, Rayment NB, Rampton DS, Hudspith BN, Brostoff J. 2005. Molecular characterization of rectal mucosa-associated bacterial flora in inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflammatory bowel diseases* **11**: 481-487.

Narayanan R, Jiang J, Gusev Y, Jones A, Kearbey JD, Miller DD, Schmittgen TD, Dalton JT. 2010. MicroRNAs are mediators of androgen action in prostate and muscle. *PLoS One* 5: e13637.

Nistico L, Buzzetti R, Pritchard LE, Van der Auwera B, Giovannini C, Bosi E, Larrad MT, Rios MS, Chow CC, Cockram CS et al. 1996. The CTLA-4 gene region of chromosome 2q33 is linked to, and associated with, type 1 diabetes. Belgian Diabetes Registry. *Human molecular genetics* **5**: 1075-1080.

Nitta T, Murata S, Ueno T, Tanaka K, Takahama Y. 2008. Thymic microenvironments for T-cell repertoire formation. *Advances in immunology* 99: 59-94.

Noble JA, Valdes AM. 2011. Genetics of the HLA region in the prediction of type 1 diabetes. *Current diabetes reports* **11**: 533-542.

Norris JM. 2010. Infant and childhood diet and type 1 diabetes risk: recent advances and prospects. *Current diabetes reports* **10**: 345-349.

O'Connell RM, Taganov KD, Boldin MP, Cheng G, Baltimore D. 2007. MicroRNA-155 is induced during the macrophage inflammatory response. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**: 1604-1609.

O'Donnell KA, Wentzel EA, Zeller KI, Dang CV, Mendell JT. 2005. c-Mycregulated microRNAs modulate E2F1 expression. *Nature* **435**: 839-843.

Okamura K, Hagen JW, Duan H, Tyler DM, Lai EC. 2007. The mirtron pathway generates microRNA-class regulatory RNAs in Drosophila. *Cell* **130**: 89-100.

Okayasu I, Hatakeyama S, Yamada M, Ohkusa T, Inagaki Y, Nakaya R. 1990. A novel method in the induction of reliable experimental acute and chronic ulcerative colitis in mice. *Gastroenterology* **98**: 694-702.

Oreja-Guevara C, Ramos-Cejudo J, Aroeira LS, Chamorro B, Diez-Tejedor E. 2012. TH1/TH2 Cytokine profile in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients treated with Glatiramer acetate or Natalizumab. *BMC neurology* **12**: 95.

Orom UA, Nielsen FC, Lund AH. 2008. MicroRNA-10a binds the 5'UTR of ribosomal protein mRNAs and enhances their translation. *Molecular cell* **30**: 460-471.

Ortis F, Pirot P, Naamane N, Kreins AY, Rasschaert J, Moore F, Theatre E, Verhaeghe C, Magnusson NE, Chariot A et al. 2008. Induction of nuclear factor-kappaB and its downstream genes by TNF-alpha and IL-1beta has a pro-apoptotic role in pancreatic beta cells. *Diabetologia* **51**: 1213-1225.

Ostling P, Leivonen SK, Aakula A, Kohonen P, Makela R, Hagman Z, Edsjo A, Kangaspeska S, Edgren H, Nicorici D et al. 2011. Systematic analysis of

microRNAs targeting the androgen receptor in prostate cancer cells. *Cancer research* **71**: 1956-1967.

- Page DM, Kane LP, Allison JP, Hedrick SM. 1993. Two signals are required for negative selection of CD4+CD8+ thymocytes. *Journal of immunology* (*Baltimore, Md : 1950*) 151: 1868-1880.
- Park SY, Lee JH, Ha M, Nam JW, Kim VN. 2009. miR-29 miRNAs activate p53 by targeting p85 alpha and CDC42. *Nature structural & molecular biology* **16**: 23-29.
- Pasquinelli AE, Hunter S, Bracht J. 2005. MicroRNAs: a developing story. *Curr Opin Genet Dev 2005 Apr;15(2):200-5*.
- Pasquinelli AE, Reinhart BJ, Slack F, Martindale MQ, Kuroda MI, Maller B, Hayward DC, Ball EE, Degnan B, Muller P et al. 2000. Conservation of the sequence and temporal expression of let-7 heterochronic regulatory RNA. *Nature 2000 Nov 2;408(6808):86-9.*
- Paterson DJ, Williams AF. 1987. An intermediate cell in thymocyte differentiation that expresses CD8 but not CD4 antigen. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **166**: 1603-1608.
- Paust S, Lu L, McCarty N, Cantor H. 2004. Engagement of B7 on effector T cells by regulatory T cells prevents autoimmune disease. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 101: 10398-10403.
- Peluso I, Pallone F, Monteleone G. 2006. Interleukin-12 and Th1 immune response in Crohn's disease: pathogenetic relevance and therapeutic implication. *World journal of gastroenterology : WJG* 12: 5606-5610.
- Podolsky DK. 2002. Inflammatory bowel disease. N Engl J Med 347: 417-429.
- Powrie F. 2004. Immune regulation in the intestine: a balancing act between effector and regulatory T cell responses. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*: 132-141.
- Poy MN, Eliasson L, Krutzfeldt J, Kuwajima S, Ma X, Macdonald PE, Pfeffer S, Tuschl T, Rajewsky N, Rorsman P et al. 2004. A pancreatic islet-specific microRNA regulates insulin secretion. *Nature 2004 Nov 11;432(7014):226-30*.
- Poy MN, Hausser J, Trajkovski M, Braun M, Collins S, Rorsman P, Zavolan M, Stoffel M. 2009. miR-375 maintains normal pancreatic alpha- and beta-cell mass. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009 Apr 7;106(14):5813-8 doi: 101073/pnas0810550106 Epub 2009 Mar 16.
- Pozzilli P, Signore A, Williams AJ, Beales PE. 1993. NOD mouse colonies around the world--recent facts and figures. *Immunol Today* 14: 193-196.
- Quaglino D, Ronchetti IP. 2001. Cell death in the rat thymus: a minireview. *Apoptosis : an international journal on programmed cell death* **6**: 389-401.
- Quintana-Lopez L, Blandino-Rosano M, Perez-Arana G, Cebada-Aleu A, Lechuga-Sancho A, Aguilar-Diosdado M, Segundo C. 2013. Nitric oxide is a mediator
of antiproliferative effects induced by proinflammatory cytokines on pancreatic beta cells. *Mediators Inflamm* **2013**: 12.

- Raver-Shapira N, Marciano E, Meiri E, Spector Y, Rosenfeld N, Moskovits N, Bentwich Z, Oren M. 2007. Transcriptional activation of miR-34a contributes to p53-mediated apoptosis. *Molecular cell* 26: 731-743.
- Read S, Malmstrom V, Powrie F. 2000. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 plays an essential role in the function of CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory cells that control intestinal inflammation. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **192**: 295-302.
- Rodriguez A, Vigorito E, Clare S, Warren MV, Couttet P, Soond DR, van Dongen S, Grocock RJ, Das PP, Miska EA et al. 2007. Requirement of bic/microRNA-155 for normal immune function. *Science* **316**: 608-611.
- Roesch LFW, Lorca GL, Casella G, Giongo A, Naranjo A, Pionzio AM, Li N, Mai V, Wasserfall CH, Schatz D et al. 2009. Culture-independent identification of gut bacteria correlated with the onset of diabetes in a rat model. *ISME J* **3**: 536-548.
- Roggli E, Britan A, Gattesco S, Lin-Marq N, Abderrahmani A, Meda P, Regazzi R. 2010. Involvement of microRNAs in the cytotoxic effects exerted by proinflammatory cytokines on pancreatic beta-cells. *Diabetes* **59**: 978-986.
- Roggli E, Gattesco S, Caille D, Briet C, Boitard C, Meda P, Regazzi R. 2012. Changes in microRNA expression contribute to pancreatic beta-cell dysfunction in prediabetic NOD mice. *Diabetes* **61**: 1742-1751.
- Rothenberg EV, Taghon T. 2005. Molecular genetics of T cell development. *Annu Rev Immunol* 23: 601-649.
- Round JL, Mazmanian SK. 2009. The gut microbiota shapes intestinal immune responses during health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* **9**: 313-323.
- Rowan F, Docherty NG, Murphy M, Murphy B, Calvin Coffey J, O'Connell PR. 2010. Desulfovibrio bacterial species are increased in ulcerative colitis. *Diseases of the colon and rectum* **53**: 1530-1536.
- Ruan Q, Wang T, Kameswaran V, Wei Q, Johnson DS, Matschinsky F, Shi W, Chen YH. 2011. The microRNA-21-PDCD4 axis prevents type 1 diabetes by blocking pancreatic beta cell death. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 108: 12030-12035.
- Rudd CE, Taylor A, Schneider H. 2009. CD28 and CTLA-4 coreceptor expression and signal transduction. *Immunological reviews* **229**: 12-26.
- Russell JH, Ley TJ. 2002. Lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity. *Annu Rev Immunol* **20**: 323-370.
- Satokari R, Gronroos T, Laitinen K, Salminen S, Isolauri E. 2009. Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus DNA in the human placenta. *Lett Appl Microbiol* **48**: 8-12.

- Schild H, Mavaddat N, Litzenberger C, Ehrich EW, Davis MM, Bluestone JA, Matis L, Draper RK, Chien YH. 1994. The nature of major histocompatibility complex recognition by gamma delta T cells. *Cell* **76**: 29-37.
- Schmidt C, Dignass A, Hartmann F, Huppe D, Kruis W, Layer P, Luers A, Stallmach A, Teich N, Sturm A. 2011. [IBD ahead 2010--Answering important questions in Crohn's disease treatment]. Z Gastroenterol 49: 1246-1254.
- Schoenborn JR, Wilson CB. 2007. Regulation of interferon-gamma during innate and adaptive immune responses. *Adv Immunol* **96**: 41-101.
- Scott FW, Olivares E, Sener A, Malaisse WJ. 2000. Dietary effects on insulin and nutrient metabolism in mesenteric lymph node cells, splenocytes, and pancreatic islets of BB rats. *Metabolism* 49: 1111-1117.
- Sebzda E, Mariathasan S, Ohteki T, Jones R, Bachmann MF, Ohashi PS. 1999. Selection of the T cell repertoire. *Annu Rev Immunol* **17**: 829-874.
- Shao R, Norstrom A, Weijdegard B, Egecioglu E, Fernandez-Rodriguez J, Feng Y, Stener-Victorin E, Brannstrom M, Billig H. 2011. Distinct expression pattern of Dicer1 correlates with ovarian-derived steroid hormone receptor expression in human Fallopian tubes during ovulation and the midsecretory phase. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 96: E869-877.
- Shao S, He F, Yang Y, Yuan G, Zhang M, Yu X. 2012. Th17 cells in type 1 diabetes. *Cellular immunology* **280**: 16-21.
- Smyth D, Cooper JD, Collins JE, Heward JM, Franklyn JA, Howson JM, Vella A, Nutland S, Rance HE, Maier L et al. 2004. Replication of an association between the lymphoid tyrosine phosphatase locus (LYP/PTPN22) with type 1 diabetes, and evidence for its role as a general autoimmunity locus. *Diabetes* 53: 3020-3023.
- Srikanth S, Gwack Y. 2013. Orai1-NFAT signalling pathway triggered by T cell receptor stimulation. *Molecules and cells* **35**: 182-194.
- Suzuki K, Meek B, Doi Y, Muramatsu M, Chiba T, Honjo T, Fagarasan S. 2004. Aberrant expansion of segmented filamentous bacteria in IgA-deficient gut. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 101: 1981-1986.
- Taghon T, Yui MA, Pant R, Diamond RA, Rothenberg EV. 2006. Developmental and molecular characterization of emerging beta- and gammadelta-selected pre-T cells in the adult mouse thymus. *Immunity* **24**: 53-64.
- Takahama Y. 2006. Journey through the thymus: stromal guides for T-cell development and selection. *Nat Rev Immunol* **6**: 127-135.
- Takahashi T, Tagami T, Yamazaki S, Uede T, Shimizu J, Sakaguchi N, Mak TW, Sakaguchi S. 2000. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory T cells constitutively expressing cytotoxic T

lymphocyte-associated antigen 4. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **192**: 303-310.

- Takeda K, Kaisho T, Akira S. 2003. Toll-like receptors. *Annu Rev Immunol* **21**: 335-376.
- Tarasov V, Jung P, Verdoodt B, Lodygin D, Epanchintsev A, Menssen A, Meister G, Hermeking H. 2007. Differential regulation of microRNAs by p53 revealed by massively parallel sequencing: miR-34a is a p53 target that induces apoptosis and G1-arrest. *Cell cycle (Georgetown, Tex)* 6: 1586-1593.
- Thai TH, Calado DP, Casola S, Ansel KM, Xiao C, Xue Y, Murphy A, Frendewey D, Valenzuela D, Kutok JL et al. 2007. Regulation of the germinal center response by microRNA-155. *Science* **316**: 604-608.
- Tili E, Michaille JJ, Cimino A, Costinean S, Dumitru CD, Adair B, Fabbri M, Alder H, Liu CG, Calin GA et al. 2007. Modulation of miR-155 and miR-125b levels following lipopolysaccharide/TNF-alpha stimulation and their possible roles in regulating the response to endotoxin shock. *J Immunol* 179: 5082-5089.
- Tisch R, McDevitt H. 1996. Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Cell 1996 May* 3;85(3):291-7.
- Tlaskalova-Hogenova H, Stepankova R, Kozakova H, Hudcovic T, Vannucci L, Tuckova L, Rossmann P, Hrncir T, Kverka M, Zakostelska Z et al. 2011. The role of gut microbiota (commensal bacteria) and the mucosal barrier in the pathogenesis of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases and cancer: contribution of germ-free and gnotobiotic animal models of human diseases. *Cell Mol Immunol* 8: 110-120.
- Tomari Y, Zamore PD. 2005. MicroRNA biogenesis: drosha can't cut it without a partner. *Curr Biol 2005 Jan 26;15(2):R61-4*.
- Tuomilehto J. 2013. The emerging global epidemic of type 1 diabetes. *Current diabetes reports* **13**: 795-804.
- Turnbaugh PJ, Hamady M, Yatsunenko T, Cantarel BL, Duncan A, Ley RE, Sogin ML, Jones WJ, Roe BA, Affourtit JP et al. 2009. A core gut microbiome in obese and lean twins. *Nature* **457**: 480-484.
- Ugalde AP, Ramsay AJ, de la Rosa J, Varela I, Marino G, Cadinanos J, Lu J, Freije JM, Lopez-Otin C. 2011. Aging and chronic DNA damage response activate a regulatory pathway involving miR-29 and p53. *The EMBO journal* **30**: 2219-2232.
- Undlien DE, Bennett ST, Todd JA, Akselsen HE, Ikaheimo I, Reijonen H, Knip M, Thorsby E, Ronningen KS. 1995. Insulin gene region-encoded susceptibility to IDDM maps upstream of the insulin gene. *Diabetes* **44**: 620-625.
- Vaarala O. 2004. Environmental causes: dietary causes. *Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America* **33**: 17-26, vii.

- -. 2013. Human intestinal microbiota and type 1 diabetes. *Current diabetes reports* 13: 601-607.
- Wada H, Masuda K, Satoh R, Kakugawa K, Ikawa T, Katsura Y, Kawamoto H. 2008. Adult T-cell progenitors retain myeloid potential. *Nature* 452: 768-772.
- Vaishnava S, Behrendt CL, Ismail AS, Eckmann L, Hooper LV. 2008. Paneth cells directly sense gut commensals and maintain homeostasis at the intestinal host-microbial interface. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **105**: 20858-20863.
- Wang M, Molin G, Ahrne S, Adawi D, Jeppsson B. 2007. High proportions of proinflammatory bacteria on the colonic mucosa in a young patient with ulcerative colitis as revealed by cloning and sequencing of 16S rRNA genes. *Digestive diseases and sciences* 52: 620-627.
- Varanasi V, Avanesyan L, Schumann DM, Chervonsky AV. 2012. Cytotoxic mechanisms employed by mouse T cells to destroy pancreatic beta-cells. *Diabetes* **61**: 2862-2870.
- Wen L, Ley RE, Volchkov PY, Stranges PB, Avanesyan L, Stonebraker AC, Hu C, Wong FS, Szot GL, Bluestone JA et al. 2008. Innate immunity and intestinal microbiota in the development of Type 1 diabetes. *Nature* 455: 1109-1113.
- Vendetti S, Chai JG, Dyson J, Simpson E, Lombardi G, Lechler R. 2000. Anergic T cells inhibit the antigen-presenting function of dendritic cells. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950)* 165: 1175-1181.
- Wicker LS, Todd JA, Peterson LB. 1995. Genetic control of autoimmune diabetes in the NOD mouse. *Annu Rev Immunol 1995;13:179-200*.
- Wightman B, Ha I, Ruvkun G. 1993. Posttranscriptional regulation of the heterochronic gene lin-14 by lin-4 mediates temporal pattern formation in C. elegans. *Cell 1993 Dec 3*;75(5):855-62.
- Vigorito E, Perks KL, Abreu-Goodger C, Bunting S, Xiang Z, Kohlhaas S, Das PP, Miska EA, Rodriguez A, Bradley A et al. 2007. microRNA-155 regulates the generation of immunoglobulin class-switched plasma cells. *Immunity* **27**: 847-859.
- Willcox A, Richardson SJ, Bone AJ, Foulis AK, Morgan NG. 2009. Analysis of islet inflammation in human type 1 diabetes. *Clin Exp Immunol* **155**: 173-181.
- Villunger A, Marsden VS, Zhan Y, Erlacher M, Lew AM, Bouillet P, Berzins S, Godfrey DI, Heath WR, Strasser A. 2004. Negative selection of semimature CD4(+)8(-)HSA+ thymocytes requires the BH3-only protein Bim but is independent of death receptor signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America 101: 7052-7057.
- Vinuesa CG, Tangye SG, Moser B, Mackay CR. 2005. Follicular B helper T cells in antibody responses and autoimmunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* **5**: 853-865.

- Wong FS, Karttunen J, Dumont C, Wen L, Visintin I, Pilip IM, Shastri N, Pamer EG, Janeway CA, Jr. 1999. Identification of an MHC class I-restricted autoantigen in type 1 diabetes by screening an organ-specific cDNA library. *Nat Med* 5: 1026-1031.
- Wu T, Wieland A, Araki K, Davis CW, Ye L, Hale JS, Ahmed R. 2012. Temporal expression of microRNA cluster miR-17-92 regulates effector and memory CD8+ T-cell differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012 Jun 19;109(25):9965-70 doi: 101073/pnas1207327109 Epub 2012 Jun 4*.
- Yamakuchi M, Ferlito M, Lowenstein CJ. 2008. miR-34a repression of SIRT1 regulates apoptosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **105**: 13421-13426.
- Yamakuchi M, Lowenstein CJ. 2009. MiR-34, SIRT1 and p53: the feedback loop. *Cell cycle (Georgetown, Tex)* **8**: 712-715.
- Yang JS, Lai EC. 2011. Alternative miRNA biogenesis pathways and the interpretation of core miRNA pathway mutants. *Molecular cell* **43**: 892-903.
- Yang L, Boldin MP, Yu Y, Liu CS, Ea CK, Ramakrishnan P, Taganov KD, Zhao JL, Baltimore D. 2012. miR-146a controls the resolution of T cell responses in mice. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **209**: 1655-1670.
- Yen D, Cheung J, Scheerens H, Poulet F, McClanahan T, McKenzie B, Kleinschek MA, Owyang A, Mattson J, Blumenschein W et al. 2006. IL-23 is essential for T cell-mediated colitis and promotes inflammation via IL-17 and IL-6. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **116**: 1310-1316.
- Yeung WC, Rawlinson WD, Craig ME. 2011. Enterovirus infection and type 1 diabetes mellitus: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational molecular studies. *BMJ (Clinical research ed)* 342: d35.
- Yu QT, Saruta M, Avanesyan A, Fleshner PR, Banham AH, Papadakis KA. 2007. Expression and functional characterization of FOXP3+ CD4+ regulatory T cells in ulcerative colitis. *Inflammatory bowel diseases* 13: 191-199.
- Yue M, Shen Z, Yu CH, Ye H, Li YM. 2013. The therapeutic role of oral tolerance in dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis via Th1-Th2 balance and gammadelta T cells. *Journal of digestive diseases* **14**: 543-551.
- Yui MA, Rothenberg EV. 2004. Deranged early T cell development in immunodeficient strains of nonobese diabetic mice. *Journal of immunology* (*Baltimore, Md : 1950*) 173: 5381-5391.
- Zella JB, McCary LC, DeLuca HF. 2003. Oral administration of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 completely protects NOD mice from insulindependent diabetes mellitus. *Archives of biochemistry and biophysics* 417: 77-80.

- Zhang L, Jin N, Nakayama M, O'Brien RL, Eisenbarth GS, Born WK. 2010. Gamma delta T cell receptors confer autonomous responsiveness to the insulin-peptide B:9-23. *Journal of autoimmunity* 34: 478-484.
- Zhang N, Bevan MJ. 2010. Dicer controls CD8+ T-cell activation, migration, and survival. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010 Dec 14;107(50):21629-34 doi: 101073/pnas1016299107 Epub 2010 Nov 22.
- Zhou L, Yoshimura Y, Huang Y, Suzuki R, Yokoyama M, Okabe M, Shimamura M. 2000. Two independent pathways of maternal cell transmission to offspring: through placenta during pregnancy and by breast-feeding after birth. *Immunology* **101**: 570-580.
- Zhu JW, DeRyckere D, Li FX, Wan YY, DeGregori J. 1999. A role for E2F1 in the induction of ARF, p53, and apoptosis during thymic negative selection. *Cell growth & differentiation : the molecular biology journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* **10**: 829-838.